

Pepperdine University
Pepperdine Digital Commons

Theses and Dissertations

2024

Perceptions of classroom technology use among adult English learners

Mandy Chien

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.pepperdine.edu/etd

Part of the Educational Technology Commons

Pepperdine University

Graduate School of Education and Psychology

PERCEPTIONS OF CLASSROOM TECHNOLOGY USE AMONG ADULT ENGLISH LEARNERS

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Education in Learning Technologies

By

Mandy Chien

May, 2024

Paula Thompson, Ed.D. - Dissertation Chairperson

This dissertation, written by

Mandy Chien

under the guidance of a Faculty Committee and approved by its members, has been submitted to and accepted by the Graduate Faculty in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

Doctoral Committee:

Paula Thompson, Ed.D., Chairperson

Alex Brice, Ph.D.

Paul Sparks, Ph.D.

© Copyright by Mandy Chien (2024)

All Rights Reserved

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLESvi
LIST OF FIGURES
DEDICATION
VITAx
ABSTRACTxiii
Chapter 1: Introduction 1
Background1Technology for Language Learning3COVID-195Problem Statement5Technology Tool: Microsoft Teams7Theoretical Framework9Purpose of Study11Research Question12Significance of the Study12Limitations13Definition of Terms13Organization of the Study15
Chapter 2: Literature Review 17
Technology Acceptance Model.17Challenges for ELs19Language Skills20Identity Adjustment20Sociocultural Adjustment21Emotional Adjustment21Adult ELs and Standardized Testing23Adult English Learners and Higher Education26Technology and Language Learning29Mobile Technology32Mobile Assisted Language Learning33Online Learning37

Blended Learning	39
Microsoft leams	41
Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Language Learning	42
Summary	44
Chapter 3: Methods	45
Research Methodological Approach and Study Design	46
Data Source and Sample	47
Instruments and Tools.	49
Validity and Reliability	50
Procedures	51
Human Subjects Considerations	52
Proposed Data Analysis Processes	53
Means to Ensure Internal Study Validity	54
Summary	54
Chapter 4: Findings	56
Introduction	56
Data Collection and Analysis Procedures	57
Descriptive Statistics	59
Reliability Assessment	66
G Graph	67
Correlations	69
Summary	73
Chapter 5 Discussion	74
Introduction	74
Summary of Findings and Conclusion	76
Conclusions	76
Implications for Practice	77
Research Recommendations	79
Promoting Technological Research	87
	88
Practice Recommendations	81
Education Professional Development	83 00
Sludy Limitations	دە م
	04
REFERENCES	86
APPENDIX A: Survey	119
APPENDIX B: Informed Consent Letter	119
	400
APPENDIX C: Recruitment Letter	123
APPENDIX D: Notice of Approval for Human Research	125

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Variables Measure the Correlation of the Constructs in TAM and Actual Use of Teams	49
Table 2:	Experience in using tools like Microsoft Teams	60
Table 3:	Descriptive Statistics for PU	61
Table 4:	Descriptive Statistics for AU	62
Table 5:	Descriptive Statistics Table for PEU	63
Table 6:	Descriptive Statistics Table for Attitude	64
Table 7:	Descriptive Statistics Table for Behavior Intention	65
Table 8:	Cronbach's Alpha	67
Table 9:	Correlations	70
Table 10	: Test of Hypotheses	72

Page

LIST OF FIGURES

	P	age
Figure 1:	Technology Acceptance Model	. 10
Figure 2:	Analytical Approach for the Research Model	. 45
Figure 3:	Bar Chart of the Experiences in Using Tools like Microsoft Teams	. 61
Figure 4:	Histogram of Users' Perceived Usefulness	. 62
Figure 5:	Histogram of Users' Actual Use of Teams	. 63
Figure 6:	Histogram of Users' Perception of Perceived Ease of Use	. 64
Figure 7:	Histogram of Attitude	. 65
Figure 8:	Histogram of Users' Perception of Behavioral Intention	. 66
Figure 9:	Scatter Plot AU versus PU	. 67
Figure 10	: Scatter Plot of AU versus PEU	. 68
Figure 11	: Scatter Plot AU versus Attitude	. 68
Figure 12	: Scatter Plot AU versus Behavior Intention	. 69

DEDICATION

What an incredible journey it has been! I am thrilled to have finally achieved this significant milestone. Throughout this adventure, I have relocated for jobs, moving from Florida to Hawaii, then California, and finally to Georgia. I experienced a life-altering divorce, transitioning from a place I called home to being without one. Despite the losses, this journey has been a testament to gaining resilience and wisdom.

The driving force behind my perseverance was my late mother, who imparted the valuable wisdom that "knowledge and a degree are possessions none can take from you." I owe immense gratitude to my colleagues, friends, and family; their unwavering support sustained me through the highs and lows.

To my Pepperdine family, you know about whom I am talking! Our shared journey has been remarkable, and your constant presence and support have meant the world to me. I am very proud of each one of us.

A special thank you to my dissertation committee, particularly my Chair, Dr. Paula Thompson, and committee members: Dr. Paul Sparks and Dr. Alex Brice. Beyond your expertise in guiding me through the dissertation process, what truly impacted me was your unwavering encouragement and belief in my abilities. Your genuine faith in me, unwavering support, and motivating words will forever hold a special place in my heart and mind. Thank you sincerely, from the depths of my heart.

I would like to express my gratitude to my friends and family who were there for me. Special thanks to Eddie, Kathy, Kelly, Mom (Bonnie), Roy Kurowski, S.B., Sophia. Friends from St. Pete FL, Hawaii, Augusta GA, as well as family from Taiwan. Your support has been amazing, and I appreciate each one of you.

Finally, I want to thank God with this prayer:

Thank you, Lord, for the blessings you have bestowed on my life. You have provided me with more than I could ever have imagined. You have surrounded me with people who always look out for me. You have given me family and friends who bless me every day with kind words and actions.

Education

• Pepperdine University

2024 Doctorate in Education in Learning Technologies, Graduate School of Education and Psychology (Los Angeles, CA)

• University of Central Oklahoma (Edmond, OK)

1998 Master's in Education focus in ESOL

1997 Bachelor of Science in Liberal Arts and Sciences

Professional

2021-present Assistant Professor in Chinese, Defense Language Institute, Presidio of Monterey, Team Technology Specialist, Acting Team Leader

- Teach Chinese to service members, following the curriculum guidelines of the Army University.
- Develop and execute innovative instructional methods with technology.
- Build up professional logistics which helps in improvising the performances of the student
- Train using job-related and general language materials designed to remediate, sustain, and enhance both mission-language skills and global language skills
- Develop language training curricula to meet training objectives Knowledge of culture and
 military aspects of the target language with purposeful technology implementation
- Present conferences
- Providing technical assistance, solving and troubleshooting hardware and software issues.
- Acting Team Leader when Team Leader is absent

2019-2021 Assistant Professor in Chinese, Defense Language Institute, Hawaii Learning Center

- Teach Chinese to service members, following the curriculum guidelines of the agency.
- Develop and execute innovative instructional methods with technology.
- Build up professional logistics which helps in improvising the performances of the students

Х

VITA

- Train using job-related and general language materials designed to remediate, sustain, and enhance both mission-language skills and global language skills
- Develop language training curricula to meet training objectives Knowledge of culture and military aspects of the target language with purposeful technology implementation
- Present conferences

08/2018-05/2019 Adjunct Instructor, ESOL Department, Saint Petersburg College (Clearwater, FL)

Teaching ESOL students' grammar, reading, listening, and speaking

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study was to assess adult English Learners' perceptions of using Microsoft Teams in classes. Specifically, the study aims to explore the strength and direction of the correlation between the elements of the technology acceptance model (TAM) and using Microsoft Teams in English language courses. This study addressed the following research question: What are the strengths and directions of the correlations between the elements of the technology acceptance model and the use of Microsoft Teams among adult ELs?

The researcher utilized a quantitative methods approach to investigate the relationship between TAM variables and the use of Microsoft Teams in an adult English course. An anonymous online survey questionnaire based on Alfadda and Mahdi's (2021) research was used in the study through a secure online platform Survey Monkey and also the researcher sent out the link to colleagues to collect data from their adult EL. SPSS will be used to analyze the data using descriptive statistical techniques. The research participants were 195 adult English learners who utilized Microsoft Teams for their English learning during the COVID-19 pandemic from 2019 to 2022. The researcher developed descriptive statistics for the Likert-scale survey items and used SPSS to run Person's correlation coefficient to obtain more information on the relationships between the variables. The study's descriptive statistics findings reveal a strong positive correlation between the effective use of Microsoft Teams and the attitudes and intentions of students regarding its usage.

As the results showed, the positive correlation can be used by educators as well as institutions to get more individuals to use Microsoft Teams as a useful tool for teaching English to adults.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Background

According to a report published in April 2018 by the National Center for Education Statistics and data from the Department of Education, the number of English learners (ELs) in schools across the United States is expected to grow significantly in the future due to the increasing population of immigrants and refugees entering the country (Mossaad et al.,2020). Many immigrants come from countries where English is not the primary language, so they need to learn English when they come to the United States. Often families relocate to the United States, seeking better educational opportunities for their children (Khong & Saito, 2014). The rise in ELs has led to new challenges in education, such as coming up with new ways to help them learn and do well in school. These challenges include language barriers, cultural differences, and school policies about with students from different language backgrounds (Jusufbasic & Kenan, 2022).

According to a report from United States Census Bureau (2023), since 2010, there has been a significant increase in the educational level of immigrants. The number of immigrants entering the United States with a college degree has increased with 45.2% of these immigrants having an undergraduate degree or higher. This is an increase of 12.4% compared to the immigrants who arrived in the 1990s. The level of English proficiency among these immigrants can affect the chance of obtaining fair and equitable jobs (Batalova et al., 2014). As the population of immigrants in the United States grows, it is essential to be ready for the cultural and linguistic diversity they bring, especially in the educational sector. To facilitate these increases, scholars are interested in how technology might be utilized to improve language learning (Dehghanzadeh et al., 2021; Parmaxi, 2023; Shadiev & Yang, 2020) and how English language courses can help immigrants meet the language requirements for getting into college or obtaining a job (Kisiara, 2021).

1

Because the number of ELs in the U.S. education system is growing, new strategies and policies are needed to help them succeed. It is also vital to improve the English language skills of immigrants and refugees for their academic and professional growth. When adult ELs return to school, they frequently confront some problems that younger ELs do not in K–12 schools (Ullman, 2010). According to Lee & Rice (2007), ELs have substantial challenges moving from K–12 to university-level education because they need help such as understanding the more complex and technical academic language (Dutro et al., 2011). According to Lee and Rice, these students may struggle with academic reading, writing, and participating in classroom discussions. One possible explanation for these issues is that many ELs come from different educational systems and may need to familiarize themselves with the academic expectations and practices at American universities (Cordeur & Tshuma, 2019).

Alharthi (2021) talked about the problems EL adults face when they return to school, especially when it comes to academic writing. His research pointed out that academic writers need a good grasp of vocabulary and grammar and an understanding of the structure of academic language, as well as the social expectations associated with it. To cope with these issues, therefore, it was suggested some teaching methods, such as teaching students directly about the grammatical structure of academic writing, showing students how to use academic language, and providing feedback so that students can apply these skills in the classroom.

It is critical to provide academic and social support to adult ELs who return to the classroom to improve their English language skills (Janis, 2013). These students often need help to develop their English language proficiency and may need more confidence in their language capabilities. As a result, educators must design interventions that provide enough support for ELs while simultaneously addressing their unique academic demands (Torff & Murphy, 2020). To resolve these issues, educators must provide appropriate academic, social, and technological assistance to ELs for them to thrive in the classroom.

Technology for Language Learning

Many scholars are interested in how technology might be utilized to improve language learning. Several studies have investigated how technology can enhance and transform language learning (Dagdeler et al., 2020; Lai et al., 2016; Zhang & Zou, 2020). Since the COVID-19 pandemic's outbreak, educational institutions have incorporated technological tools to ensure the continual delivery of teaching and learning. These tools include online learning platforms, synchronous and asynchronous instruction, video conferencing, and hybrid approaches (Lederer et al., 2021). As a result, the educational technology industry and higher education institutions have been actively searching for effective ways to incorporate technology into teaching to help students learn. The use of technology as instructional and learning tools has increased as educators become more cognizant of the benefits of using technology in the classroom (T.-T. Wu & Huang, 2017; Zielinski, 2017). The educational technology industry is rapidly developing educational apps and software due to the growing need for technology in education (Hirsh-Pasek et al., 2015). Overall, the use of technology to learn a language is likely to increase as teachers seek new ways to teach that will help students learn more effectively.

Technology can provide a wide range of resources for language development (Su & Zou, 2022) that can help ELs improve their English language skills. For instance, online courses and language-learning applications can provide self-paced language-learning (Ceron et al., 2021) possibilities that allow learners to learn at their own pace and in a way that works best for their learning style. These digital resources can also provide ELs with interactive exercises, quizzes, and exams to practice their language skills.

Digital tools can also help ELs, their teachers, and their peers to communicate. Technology such as video conferencing can enable ELs to communicate with teachers remotely so that they can get answers to their questions, give and receive feedback, and engage in class discussions (Hazaymeh, 2020). Additionally, even if a student is not physically present in the classroom, professors can still offer them individualized comments and support. Another big benefit of using technology in curriculum for ELs is that it can help people who don't know how to use technology get past that barrier (Rahiem, 2020). Many ELs may not have the same resources as their peers, such as laptops, internet access, and digital devices. Schools and educational institutions could provide all students with equal access to technological resources.

When it comes to employing technology to learning English for ELs, there are several proven strategies. *Gamification*, for example, could make learning a language more fun and interesting, inspiring students to keep learning and enhancing their language skills (Azar & Tan, 2020). Advanced technology can give feedback and support that is tailored individually. For example, speech recognition software can evaluate a student's pronunciation and suggest ways to improve it (Evers & Chen, 2022). By making immersive language-learning environments, virtual and augmented reality can help ELs practice their skills in a more active and hands-on way.

According to Lei (2010), two important components in using technology in the classroom are the quality of the applications the instructor chooses, and how the instructor models the technology with students. Although some applications may have been designed for certain purposes, teachers should try to see beyond the primary intent of the applications and to discover different ways of using it. When teachers are trying to apply applications and technology tools in their instruction, they should acknowledge that using the right tools to help students to acquire knowledge is more important than just learning how to use the tools (C. Zhang, 2020). The technology could help ELs by giving them access to a variety of tools for language learning and bridging the digital divide. Integrating technology into education and using it for English learning can improve the learning experience and assist ELs in acquiring the language skills necessary for academic success and achieve their goals. By investing in technology and giving students access to digital resources, schools and teachers can ensure that all students have the help and tools they need to reach their full academic potential.

COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the education system worldwide. To keep education going, most U.S. higher education institutions had to close their campuses and switch to virtual learning in 2020 (Bao, 2020). Schools and educational institutions adopting virtual learning options, such as Zoom, Microsoft Teams, or other video conference applications to continue teaching (Beltekin & Kuyullu, 2020; Pokhrel & Chhetri, 2021).

Virtual video-conferencing apps such as Microsoft Teams have created a collaborative and interactive learning environment that improves students' learning experiences. This environment is similar to face-to-face instruction. Microsoft Teams integrates seamlessly with other Microsoft products, negating the need for additional applications or third-party software (Al-Qahtani & Higgins, 2020).

Asynchronous online instruction cannot offer immediate feedback or better communication between students and teachers, but virtual synchronous technologies may help improve learning (Cheung & Doug, 2013) Schools and other educational institutions must continue to offer a secure learning environment for students while adjusting to virtual learning alternatives and ensuring that students and instructors know how to effectively use the software and technology (Rachelinda et al., 2021).

Problem Statement

The literature extensively documents the challenges faced by ELs in academic pursuits, including adults in the higher education setting (Andrade, 2006; Lee & Rice, 2007). Among these obstacles are cultural differences, linguistic barriers, and educational gaps. Even for those with prior higher education experience, the majority of adult ELs require academic English language support, regardless of their education level and available resources.

Yet, the COVID-19 pandemic disrupted traditional face-to-face learning and compelled schools and teachers to develop alternate instructional approaches. To ensure the continuity of

education, teachers were required to utilize applications such as Microsoft Teams, Skype, and Zoom to extend their teaching beyond the classroom through online learning (T. Chen et al., 2020).

The use of technology in teaching English as a second language has become increasingly popular. One area that that has been investigated is the effectiveness of technology in English language teaching. According to Al-Mekhlafi and Al-Mashhadani (2018), technology can effectively improve English language proficiency in such settings.

As smartphones and tablets continue to gain popularity, more people use these mobile devices to learn. Mobile device use for language learning is also known as mobile-assisted language learning (MALL). Engaging in educational gaming on mobile devices is a method employed to utilize mobile devices for MALL. Wu (2018) discovered that playing the mobile games helped ELs increase their vocabulary and listening comprehension. Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram are just a few examples of social media sites that can be used for facilitating language learning. According to Yadav (2020) utilizing Instagram for language learning tasks such as posting photographs and creating captions helped learners' writing and speaking abilities in a new language. MALL also includes apps for language learning such as Duolingo and Babbel. Using the mobile app Quizlet helped learners enhance their vocabulary acquisition and reading comprehension in English as a foreign language (J. J. Lin & Lin, 2019). According to Irana et al., (2021), watching YouTube videos with English subtitles helped students' vocabulary and listening comprehension of English. MALL has improved the language skills of ELs (Z. Chen et al., 2020).

Finally, online discussion forums have been demonstrated to improve ELs' writing achievement, perception, and satisfaction (Cao et al., 2022). These studies suggest that technology can be helpful in the EL classroom, improving learners' language skills and engagement. With the shift to virtual learning due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the use of online platforms has become essential in the delivery of English as a second language (ESL) instruction. Microsoft Teams is one such platform that has gained popularity in adult EL classes. However, the effectiveness of Microsoft Teams in adult EL classes has not been thoroughly studied, particularly in terms of students' perceptions of its use.

Hence, the purpose of this study was to assess adult English learns' perceptions of using Microsoft Teams in classes. Specifically, the study aims to explore the strength and direction of the correlation between the elements of the technology acceptance model (TAM) and using Microsoft Teams in English language courses. This study will address the following research question:

RQ: What are the strengths and directions of the correlations between the elements of the technology acceptance model and the use of Microsoft Teams among adult ELs?

Technology Tool: Microsoft Teams

Microsoft Teams will be the technological tool in this research project. Microsoft Teams, as part of the Microsoft 365 Suite, is a powerful platform for fostering collaboration and communication. Since the outbreak of COVID-19, Teams' popularity has increased because of the rise of remote work and online learning (Alfadda & Mahdi, 2021; Ly et al., 2021; Rababah, 2020; Rachelinda et al., 2021).

Microsoft Teams offers a variety of services that promote communication, collaboration, and group work for students. Chat and videoconferencing tools, file storage, and application integration are among these features. Teams provides a collaborative hub for students to work together on group projects, exchange ideas, and maintain communications with their classmates and teachers. Teams also provides various customization options, enabling students to personalize the platform to their requirements. For instance, they can build channels for specific projects or study groups, set up alerts for critical updates, and integrate third-party programs such as OneNote or Flipgrid to enhance their learning experience. Teams' capacity to offer remote learning is an additional helpful feature (Alfadda & Mahdi, 2021). Students can use Teams to attend virtual classes and lectures, take part in online conversations and group activities, and get access to course materials such as readings, assignments, and grades. This can help to ensure learning continuity, even during disturbances such as school closures or mandates for remote learning.

Microsoft Teams is a versatile and user-friendly application that allows students to experience positive learning outcomes (Rababah, 2020). It can serve to increase communication and collaboration, facilitate distant learning, and enhance the learning experience overall. It is a good choice for this study and will give helpful information about the subject of the study.

Learning is a complicated process that happens when a person takes in new information or knowledge and combines it with their memories, experiences, and responses to many different things (Papert & Harel, 1991). Microsoft Teams gives students a virtual place to work together with their classmates, making it easier for students to stay in touch and learn collaboratively. Microsoft also has Word, Excel, PowerPoint, SharePoint, and OneNote Class Notebook, which make it easy to connect to Teams (Anette Dieck-Assad & de Monterrey, 2018). Using the app as Class Notebooks, students can compare their notes at the start and end of each study unit. Additionally, students can utilize Teams and Class Notebooks to communicate and evaluate their own and classmates' progress (Everly, 2019). The Teams application can facilitate more meaningful learning processes when use to promote critical thinking (Miarsyah et al., 2020) found that technology applications give students the tools to create their own learning. Previous research has demonstrated that the use of Teams in education fosters critical thinking, encourages students to take ownership of their learning, and enhance students' learning progress (Ivanova, 2017). Through the Teams platform, teachers can also give quick feedback to students, which helps them learn more effectively.

While using Teams for assignments or activities, students may first work separately. Nevertheless, once they have completed and posted their projects, the collaborative and social interactive aspects of the site come into play as they comment on the work of their peers. Even

8

if students aren't in the same room as their classmates, Teams makes it easy for them to talk to each other and complete group assignments. (Behfar et al., 2010) found that students who worked on projects together with Teams felt more ownership and responsibility. Also, since the COVID-19 pandemic, the use of Teams in education has grown substantially because it makes it possible to learn and work together from far away (Bashir et al., 2021). Hence, Teams can enable both solo and collaborative learning regardless of their location.

Theoretical Framework

This study will investigate the students' perceptions of using Microsoft Teams in adult ESL classes through an existing questionnaire. The analysis will identify the strength and direction of the correlation between the elements of TAM and using Microsoft Teams among adults in an English language course. TAM is the theoretical frame to examine adult ELs in terms of the elements: perceived usefulness (PU), perceived ease of use (PEU), attitude toward use (ATU), behavioral intention to use (BIU) Teams and actual use (AU).

Davis (1989) introduced TAM to investigate user acceptance of technology. TAM was developed from Ajzen and Fishbein's (1980) theory of rational action (TRA; M.H. Lee et al., 2019). According to TRA, it is possible to determine a user's actual behavior by analyzing their prior intentions and beliefs regarding the behavior. Behavioral intention is a significant predictor of attitude, and the effect of perspective on behavior is affected by behavioral intention (Marangunić & Granić, 2015).

Considering a person's intention when predicting their behavior is essential because their attitudes and beliefs also impact it. If students think that new technology, like Microsoft Teams, can help them finish their work faster or make learning more interesting, they are more likely to use it. TAM predicts how people will use technology based on two main factors: how useful they think it is and how easy it is to use (Alfadda & Mahdi, 2021). Researchers have found that people who know how to use technology are more likely to keep using it. Svendsen et al. (2013) found that once users find the technology helpful and easy to use, they plan to keep using it.

TAM has become one of the most widely used models for evaluating technology use since its inception (King & He, 2006). Figure 1 shows the TAM. The model contends that to predict a user's attitude toward utilizing technologies such as Microsoft Teams, two personal beliefs—PE and PEU—are influenced by external and system-specific factors. How someone perceives technology affects how they plan to use it, which can be used to predict the actual system. Subjective norms, computer self-efficacy, technical support, ease of use (Chang et al., 2012; Hsu & Ching, 2013), enjoyment, and computer anxiety are some external factors that affect users' experiences. Salloum et al. (2019) said these external factors often explain why people use technology.

Figure 1

Technology Acceptance Model



Note. Adapted from "Does the technology acceptance model predict actual use? A systematic literature review," by M. turner, B. Kitchenham, P. Bereton. et al., 2010, *Information and Software Technology*, *52*(3), p. 472

Therefore, this study will incorporate Davis' TAM model (Davis, 1989) to examine the relationships between these variables: PU, PEU, ATU, and BIU, and actual use among adult ELs' use of Microsoft Teams.

Purpose of Study

Over the past few decades, technology has transformed the way people communicate and learn. It changed how ELs learn and interact with the English language. Researchers have conducted numerous studies to explore the relationship between technology, second language proficiency, and students' technology skills. For example, Barrot's (2016) study showed that technology in the classroom helped ELs learn the language, especially their listening and speaking skills. Cheng & Chau (2013) also found that using technology, especially multimedia materials, helped ELs learn new vocabulary and comprehend what they read. Shin et al. (2021) found that ELs' writing skills improved when students used online tools and resources in language classes.

Technology may assist ELs learn a language better, but it also boosts their confidence and motivation. Tanaka et al. (2015)found that ELs who took part in an online exchange program with native English speakers were more motivated to learn English and more confident in their ability to communicate in English. Similarly, Ahmed et al., (2022) found that ELs were more interested and excited about learning English when ELs used educational games and apps.

Existing research has shown that technology could make a big difference in how ELs learn (Harper et al., 2021). By using the power of technology, teachers can give ELs a more dynamic and interactive way to learn. This helps them improve their language skills, build their confidence, and become more motivated to learn. However, previous research has focused primarily on K–12 ELs and English as a Foreign Language (EFL) students (Crompton et al., 2021; Hao et al., 2021; Huzairin et al., 2020; S. Lee et al., 2022; Zafari et al., 2022). EFL learners are ELs who reside in non-English-speaking countries and do not use English daily. They must take English as a foreign language as a required language course at school.

The purpose of this study is to assess adult English Learners' perceptions of using Microsoft Teams in English language classes. Specifically, the study aims to explore the

strength and direction of the correlation between the elements of TAM and using Microsoft Teams in an English language course.

Research Question

The research question for this study is: what is the strength and direction of the correlation between the elements of the technology acceptance model and using Microsoft Teams among adults in a virtual English as a Second Language course? The variables are the usage of Microsoft Teams and the elements of TAM, including perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, attitude toward use, behavioral intention to use, and actual use. The following is a list of hypotheses:

- H1: Perceived usefulness will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.
- H2: Perceived ease of use will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.
- H3: Attitude toward use will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.
- H4: Behavioral intention to use will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.

Significance of the Study

This research is essential for educators, instructional designers, and instructional plan directors who wish to support adult ELs and utilize Teams for their education. This study may yield new insights about adult ELs and their experiences with the Teams application, which can inform the design and implementation of technology-based language learning programs. This study may contribute to the existing literature on the effectiveness of technology applications in language learning, particularly for adult learners, by examining the correlation between the elements of TAM and the actual use of Teams by adult ELs. Ultimately, this research may enhance the quality of language-learning programs and the English learning experience for adults.

Limitations

This research has several limitations that must be considered when interpreting the results. Adult ELs in the United States who are taking English language classes at a college or university and use Microsoft Teams to learn their course will make up the study population. Therefore, it is possible that the findings do not apply to adult ELs in other countries or to those who use a different technology for learning. In addition, elementary, middle, and high school ELs were not examined in this study.

Second, while several technology models are available, the scope of this study is limited to the TAM model. Thirdly, the study will employ a quantitative research design and use online surveys with closed-ended questions to collect data. This methodology might get more people to take and finish the survey, but it might only give a partial picture of what people think.

Definition of Terms

There are certain terms and expressions used in this study that are defined for clarification.

- Actual Use (AU): The degree to which users use Teams after adopting it is influenced by their perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use
- Attitude: The general attitudes people have toward a given technology, including their thoughts and beliefs about it.
- Behavioral intention to use (BIU): This term refers to how strongly an individual's plan to use a certain system or technology meet with how they actually use it when doing what they need to do (Venkatesh et al., 2003). In this study, it refers a person aims to use Teams as their primary technology tool for collaboration and communication in a work setting.

- English as a second language (ESL): ESL is sometimes interchangeable with a more accurate term of English to Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) (Yaghjian, 2018).
 Learners' mother tongue is not English, and they are learning English where English is used as an official language.
- English as foreign language (EFL): EFL refers to learners who are learning English in a non-English speaking country and the purpose of learning is for traveling and communicating with English speakers (Hibatullah, 2019).
- English for academic purpose (EAP): EAP is learning English to write, speak, and communicate in higher education (Flowerdew, 2016).
- English learner (EL): widely used to describe "students who are not yet fluent in English and are still learning the language" (Robertson, 2000).
- Online education: Online education is instruction provided through the Internet to facilitate teaching and learning. It involves students engaging in virtual learning, no matter where they are. Teachers create teaching modules that are meant to improve learning and interaction in a synchronous or asynchronous setting, and the course materials are posted online.
- Perceived ease of use (PEU): Perceived ease of use is how comfortably and effortlessly
 a user feels when they are using a particular technology (Cheung & Doug, 2013). In this
 study, it means how comfortable and effortless user feel when they are using a particular
 technology
- Perceived usefulness (PU): People tend to use or not use an application to the extent that they believe it will help them perform their job better.
- Technology acceptance model (TAM): TAM is used to explain individual users' acceptance of information systems or information technology. According to Davis's

model, it assumes that an individual's acceptance of a system is depended by two major factors: PE and PEU (Davis, 1989).

Organization of the Study

This study is divided into five chapters, each with its purpose and emphasis. Chapter 1 gives background information on the subject being studied and explains why it is important to study. The problem statement identified the problem or issue under investigation. The purpose statement covered the overall goal of the research and outlined the specific research question addressed. The theoretical framework and methodological strategy outline the procedures used to address the research questions and the hypotheses under them. The theoretical framework will have a short introduction. This chapter also defined key terms that are used in the study.

Chapter 2 reviews the literature. This chapter provides historical context and background for the issue explored. The section then thoroughly reviews the literature on the study's theoretical framework, arranged according to theoretical concepts. This chapter demonstrates a comprehensive awareness of the current state of research on the topic and highlights the gaps this study sought to address.

Chapter 3 details the research method that will be used to address the research question, as well as the data sources. Detailed descriptions of the population and sample procedures are provided. The instruments and tools for data collection, including validity and reliability, are discussed. Procedures for collecting data and ethical considerations for human subject's research are explained. There is also a description of the suggested data analysis techniques and ways to ensure the study's internal validity.

Chapter 4 presents the findings. The results will be interpreted to produce key findings to answer the research questions. Chapter 5 summarizes the study, including the research problem, the theoretical framework, the method used, and the most important findings. This chapter also discusses the study's practical and scholarly implications and its limitations. It concludes with practice implications, recommendations for future research, and closing remarks.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

This chapter examines several significant areas to lay a theoretical groundwork for the study. First, TAM, a theory explaining how users adopt and use new technologies, is discussed (Davis, 1989). The issues ELs face, including their language skills, identity adjustment, sociocultural adjustment, and emotional adjustment, are covered next. In this chapter will also discusses how to use technology for ELs, focusing on Microsoft Teams, online learning, blended learning, and learning a language on a mobile device. The research on the COVID-19 pandemic's effects on language learning are also covered, along with the challenges and benefits the pandemic has brought.

Numerous scholarly resources were used to generate this literature review, including Google Scholar, JSTOR, ProQuest, and other scholarly databases. Most of the research is from peer-reviewed articles and other scholarly sources that present empirical evidence and theoretical frameworks about adult ELs, technology, and language learning. The purpose is to gain a thorough and current understanding of the issues faced by adult ELs in an online context, the role of technology in supporting language learning, and viable solutions to overcome barriers to effective language acquisition.

Technology Acceptance Model

In today's digital era, the transformative effect of technology on our lives cannot be understated. With widespread use extending from social media platforms to shopping websites, it has substantially altered individuals' communication methods. Adopting new software or hardware products can help individuals and teams considerably improve productivity. However, such decisions require thorough research because various factors influence them.

TAM, created by Davis in 1989, suggests that PU and PEU are the two critical criteria that influence a person's intention to adopt technology. The degree to which a person believes that adopting a technology would improve their performance is known as PU, and the degree to which they believe that using technology will be simple and easy is known as PEU. The two main mediating factors in TAM that eventually affect actual system use are ATU and BTU (Vivek Venkatesh et al., 2014). Because this model was designed to predict individual attitudes towards technology and their actual use of the new adapted technology (Y. Lee et al., 2003) subsequent researchers have used this model for their studies, and it often showed with significant results on using TAM to investigate individuals' attitudes and behaviors towards technology adoption and use of new adapted technology(Ishfaq & Mengxing, 2022; Kemp et al., 2019). Davis (1989) said these two components are the most critical factors affecting how people feel about using information technology. ATU is the extent to which an individual holds a favorable view about using a particular technology. BTU is the degree to which an individual has used a particular technology in practice.

TAM has been widely adopted in education to understand and predict the adoption and use of technology. TAM has been used in a variety of educational technologies, such as learning management systems, online courses, educational apps, and mobile devices. Z. Zhang et al. (2022) used TAM to examine the factors that influence adult learners' adoption of English language learning using a blended learning approach, including using Microsoft Teams. The study found that PU and PEU significantly influenced ATU and BIU, which, in turn, had a positive effect on actual use. (H. Lee et al., 2019) utilized TAM to evaluate the factors that influence students' intentions to use mobile learning apps. According Lee et al., PU and PEU substantially influenced students' desire to use the apps. Similarly, Fearnley & Amora (2020) used TAM to investigate the factors that influence instructors' acceptance of learning management systems. The study discovered that PU, PEU, and attitude to using the system all substantially impacted teachers' desire to utilize the system.

Other researchers have used TAM to assess the effectiveness of technology-based interventions in education. TAM, for example, was used to examine the adoption and use of an online learning platform in a higher education context (Pal & Vanijja, 2020). According to Pal

and Vanijja, PE, PEU, and attitude to use the platform all substantially impacted students' intentions to use the platform, which, in turn, had a good effect on their learning results. TAM was utilized by Linh and Vu (2021) to assess the adoption and use of a mobile learning app for teaching English as a foreign language. According to Lihn and Vu, PE and PEU increased students' inclination to use the app, which had a positive impact on their English language skills.

Overall, the literature demonstrates that TAM is a valuable theoretical framework for understanding and predicting technological acceptance and use in education (Perienen, 2020). TAM can assist educators and researchers in identifying the characteristics that influence students' and instructors' acceptance of technology and developing ways to encourage its uptake and practical use. Specifically, the model's focus on PU, PEU, ATU, BIU, and actual use can provide valuable insights into how ELs perceive and use Microsoft Teams. This study used TAM to guide the development of effective strategies to enhance adult ELs' engagement and success with Microsoft Teams for language learning purposes.

Challenges for ELs

The two main populations of ELs in higher education are international and immigrant students. Both groups have distinctive identities and traits that distinguish them from one another. According to Andrade (2006), international students are people who enter the country temporarily to attend higher education institutions. They must submit proof of their financial situation when applying to U.S. schools because students often arrive with limited financial support, without family and they cannot work with a student visa. Some international students return to their country after finishing their studies. On the other hand, many immigrant students come to the United States with their families permanently. (Ten Have et al., 2023) reported that there are more than 19 million documented migrants residing in America's borders with Hispanic or Latino migrants making up more than 45% among them. It is common for Mexican and Central Americans to secure paid employment in fields like construction, farming where strong English language competencies are not required (Peri & Rutledge, 2022; Ismiyani, 2021)

Due to restrictions on their student visas that prohibit them from working off-campus, the majority of international students become full-time students, whereas immigrant students must frequently divide their time between coursework and a paid job. Due to their belief in the transformative power of education, their different socioeconomic statuses do not discourage either group from seeking English proficiency.

Regardless of immigration status, students are in the United States to start a new life as ELs. Boafo-Arthur (2014) pointed out that although they originate from various places and cultures, their problems are somewhat similar. The issues with linguistic abilities, identity adjustment, sociocultural adjustment, and emotional adjustment are only a few of these challenges.

Language Skills

When ELs come to the United States to study, in addition to comprehending and being able to converse in English, reading and writing skills in academic English are also challenging (Janis, 2013). The lack of English language skills leads ELs to experience other challenges, such as limited access to college or university. For example, ELs are required to take courses such as English as Second Language or English for Academic Purpose classes to improve their language skills before they can enroll in college courses. These classes often do not count as credits toward college or university courses (Flink, 2018). It adds a financial burden and extends the length of time to graduate. Younger English learners may be able to provide some language assistance to adult ELs. However, their level of language proficiency may not be adequate to assist with academic language comprehension. The assistance offered by younger English learners to adult ELLs will be limited. Adult learners need to build better language skills to succeed in their academic, professional, and social endeavors.

Identity Adjustment

Several studies have identified characteristics of adult ELs. Adult immigrant students may find that their identity in the family has changed due to their insufficient command of the

English language. For example, adult immigrants were once decision makers and financial supporters of the family; these adult ELs might need to depend on the younger generation in the family to communicate (Ciriza-Lope et al., 2016; Kanno & Varghese, 2010). Their role as parents, caretakers, and/or authority figures is dependent on the younger generation translating for them (Ciriza-Lope et al., 2016). Adult ELs often turn to the younger members in the family for help with the language and culture because these younger family members have better proficiency in both. Adults who used to have certain control but who feel powerless because of the shift in dynamics experience a change in their identity from independent to dependent (Cerezo & McWhirter, 2012). In addition to their academic challenges, immigrant students also need to adjust to a different academic culture and the consequent limited social interactions in higher education (Brown, 2012; Ciriza-Lope et al., 2016). The lack of English skills magnifies the social challenges of ELs. They hesitate to join the social circle because of the frustration of not being understood and losing their confidence (Arbona & Jimenez, 2014).

Sociocultural Adjustment

ELs bring their culture into the class and create a small international environment for all the students. These classes are basically multicultural and multilingual. These students encounter students from different counties, and they need to adjust their attitudes and increase their cultural competency toward their classmates. Students need to learn how to work with their peers and participate in a social life that includes different cultures (Canagarajah, 2002). Not only do ELs need to assimilate into the new society but also into their own classes. They need to learn how to adjust their attitudes and values towards their peers' cultures. Ciriza-Lope et al. (2016) pointed out that one of the challenges of adult ELs is to break the language barrier and socialize with target language speakers. Adjusting to life in a new country necessitates remarkable flexibility as individual navigates the various social and cultural changes, and familiarizing oneself with the language spoken in the host country will facilitate effective communication leading to a more positive experience for migrants (Bierwiaczonek & Waldzus

2016). To live sustainably with native peoples, it is important to understand their cultural norms so that any misconceptions are avoided and there is an objective view on what practices might be necessary. This understanding aids in effective adaptation. Dealing with dynamic changes during adjustment can be made easier for immigrations by having a strong support system from family and friends or other influential organizations that provide both psychological as well as material resources Sociocultural adjustment for immigrants is a complex process that involves adapting to a host country's social and cultural norms. Factors influencing the adjustment process include language proficiency, understanding cultural differences, social support, and discrimination (Bierwiaczonek & Waldzus, 2016). Immigrants fluent in their host country's language and aware of its culture and values are more likely to adapt to their new country successfully. Furthermore, people with support from family, friends, and local community groups find themselves better coping with the unique challenges of sociocultural changes. As a result of discrimination, immigrants encounter significant obstacles to acceptance and integration into their new communities, negatively affecting sociocultural adaptation. As a result, policymakers must ensure they act accordingly by providing assistance and support to immigrant groups as they resettle in their newly adopted homeland. (Hayes et al., 2016)

Emotional Adjustment

When adult ELs return to school, they not only need to adjust to the new culture in daily life, but also to the culture and expectations of the academic setting. With their insufficient language skills, ELs perceive that they are not connected to their peers, especially native speaking peers, and their voice or needs are often neglected or misinterpreted (Bertram et al., 2014). Some international students may also face discrimination and bias because of where they come from or their racial backgrounds. Other students will judge international students by their religion, culture, and ethnicity (Boafo-Arthur, 2014). Adult learners are also very self-conscious of their mistakes, a critical reason that makes adult ELs feel challenged to acquire English language skills (Cozma, 2015).

There are other challenges when either young or adult ELs attend higher education institutions in the United States, especially when they are attending classes that are designed to improve ELs language skills. Kanno and Varghese (2010) confirmed that there are barriers that prevent ELs from continuing in ESOL or EAP programs or advancing to the next level in either the program or a university. One obstacle is that many ELs are uncomfortable speaking to native English speakers, which causes them to avoid school gatherings. They may be selfconscious about their English language skills and be concerned about being understood with a foreign accent, mocked for using incorrect terms, or that they lack the vocabulary and background knowledge required to engage with English-speaking peers (Kanno & Varghese, 2010). ELs need social context language abilities and linguistic knowledge to communicate with native speakers and to complete academic requirements.

Adult ELs and Standardized Testing

When adult ELs want to pursue a higher education in the United States, they can either take a standardize English language proficiency test such as the TOEFL or IELTS or they can complete EAP or ESOL courses as prerequisites to start taking college or university classes (Douglas & Rosvold, 2018). EAP courses are one of the gateways to higher education for ELs (Douglas & Kim, 2015). To understand and help ELs and instructors in an EAP or ESOL program, researchers have conducted studies (Wallwork, 2016) to provide insights and suggestions because a successful EAP or ESOL program can be a key to ensure the academic success to ELs.

Basically, the primary goal of EAP courses is to help adult students whose first language is not English to have better academic communication skills in academic environment (Todd, 2003; Wallwork, 2016). EAP courses not only develop different methodologies and pedagogical approaches from general English to serve EAP students based on their academic needs (Namaziandost et al., 2020), but also help ELs to transition into college- or university-level courses (Karmelita, 2018). Most colleges and universities offer EAP programs for ESL students
as noncredit, preadmission courses. These courses provide support to international students to gain the language skills they need to take college-level courses (Hong-Nam & Leavell, 2006).

Generally, ELs need scaffolding to improve their language skills in reading, listening, writing, and speaking. According to Jordan (2020), helping ELs to learn and exercise study skills is crucial to EAP course. In addition, all the work should prepare students to acquire competence for social and work situations. As an EL in higher education, there is nothing more important than understanding the words in the textbooks. Since education is also preparing students for their future and one of the essential skills in the workforce is critical thinking skill, EAP courses should incorporate training students to be critical thinkers (Wilson, 2016). This is a skill that is difficult even for native English-speaking students to achieve, so students from countries where critical thinking is not permitted due to political or religious beliefs can be even more challenging. Instructors can provide students opportunities to practice reading and thinking critically. Modeling is also an effective way to help English learning students to master their skills (Spector-Cohen et al., 2001).

In addition to helping students to gain study skills, students in the EAP classes also need to know how to conduct and understand academic research in English (Douglas & Rosvold, 2018) as part of their academic competency. After all, students' final goal is to finish their degree, so they need academic research skills to complete their coursework.

To increase the effectiveness of EAP instruction, researchers should also focus on finding suitable instructional approaches including inductive learning, autonomous learning, authentic material and tasks, and incorporating technology in teaching (Lawrence et al., 2020). Instructors should consider combining these approaches to their teaching according to what the learning objectives are and encourage students to combine different approaches for their learning.

Researchers emphasize the importance of learners' autonomy in the EAP courses. Students can work independently and decide what they want to learn and how to learn it based on their interests and personal preferences. Lai et al. (2016) claimed that with the help of technology, students are more willing to take control of their own learning outside of the classroom. Students can use technology to search for study materials and to watch authentic videos online to improve their language skills, but teachers need to provide some guidance and support due to students' limited language proficiency (Lai et al., 2016).

When it comes to taking English language classes, ELs also want their language skills to be efficient enough for life outside the classroom. Authentic materials can help students connect what they learn in the classroom to the real world (Al_Awidi & Ismil, 2014) and provide students practical usage of the language. Because of the abundance of resources online, students can look for authentic materials to personalize their learning and make the learning meaningful to them, further motivating them to learn (Peacock, 1997).

According to Arasaratnam (2016), intercultural competency is a combination of abilities that enable a person to think and behave appropriately with people from different cultures; therefore, people can understand different cultural norms and values, communicate effectively, and show respect for cultural differences. Students in EAP courses come from all over the world and bring their unique cultural backgrounds into classes. Therefore, it is essential that teachers help students expand their horizons on other cultures and learn the values and beliefs of their classmates' cultures (Galante, 2015). Practicing intercultural competency in a culturally diverse classroom can reduce bias and misunderstandings; students will be more likely to respect and be open to their peers from different cultures.

Another important strategy for adult ELs is the ability to transfer knowledge. EAP courses help ELs to get ready for college-level courses in all subjects (Spector-Cohen et al., 2001). Several researchers have studied college-level course preparation (Chostelidou et al., 2015;Hong-Nam & Leavell, 2006; Hyland & Hamp-Lyons, 2002). Students are not aware of that the readings, writings, and other skills they learned from EAP courses are applicable to the subjects in other disciplines (James, 2016). James (2016) pointed out that learners either do not

think that they have acquired the knowledge to transfer what they learned from EAP classes to other subject classes, or they believe what they learned in EAP classes does not help in other subjects. For example, the participants in James' research believed that writing assignments for an EAP class were not applicable to writing a history report. In EAP classes, EL students often learn literacy skills, such as using graphics to help their comprehension of the text passages (Tang, 1992), and it is a skill that ELs can apply to other subjects (Carrier, 2005).

Adult English Learners and Higher Education

When having a higher education degree offers the potential promise of getting a better job, it can lead to people getting a higher paying job (Merrill, 2014). Thus, it might be one of the reasons that attracts adults to return to school to get a higher degree or improve their professional knowledge. Adult learners have their unique characteristics. Because of the growing adult English learner population (Bengo, 2020) and the unique characteristics of adult learners, institutes and instructors need to have a well-designed program and instruction for adult learners to continue their education (Dahman & Dağ, 2019). Dahman and Dağ's (2019) stated that motivation, attitude, and anxiety have a significant influence on whether the adult ELs will keep going back to their course or not. Even when adult learners are more motivated than younger learners, it is imperative for educators and school personnel to provide proper emotional support and assistance to adult learners (Cox, 2012).

Adult learners often face obstacles that prevent them from going back to school. For example, adult learners have pre-existing commitments to work and family, and they also have financial issues that they must consider. Adult students are not only responsible for their schoolwork but also for their family. Single parents may need to pay extra money for a sitter so they can attend night school. Some students need to take care of their elderly parents because they are the only family from whom they can get help. When students encounter these life problems, they need strong support and understanding from their instructors to help them complete their courses. Dahman and Dağ (2019) also pointed out the students with a positive attitude stay in school and complete their courses, but students with a negative attitude have higher dropout or withdraw rate. Therefore, some classes or instructors are more accommodating to adult learners' schedules and try to support them with flexibility and encouragement.

The decision of adult English learners (ELs) to continue their education is significantly influenced by their financial need (Păun & Sava, 2019). Many adult students' daytime jobs prevent them from attending classes during the day, which means they must attend night classes or complete prerequisite courses before enrolling in their desired program. However, these options often require more time and money, which can burden adult ELs with financial obligations such as rent and bills. Consequently, the cost and time commitment may lead adult learners to drop out or quit school. In addition, many adult students have limited financial resources and cannot afford the high cost of tuition, textbooks, and transportation. Additionally, they may have less access to financial aid, scholarships, and grants than traditional college students. Stress and anxiety can result from a lack of financial resources, affecting an adult learner's motivation and determination to remain in school.

Therefore, financial aid programs, such as low-interest loans, grants, scholarships, and work-study programs, are crucial for adult students pursuing education, as they can provide funding for tuition, books, and other education-related expenses. Employers can also support their employees' educational pursuits by offering tuition reimbursement programs and flexible work schedules. Providing financial assistance to adult ELs is critical for their academic success, as returning to school often poses significant financial obstacles. With the help of institutions and employers, adult learners can overcome these barriers and achieve their educational and career goals.

Merrill's (2014) research emphasizes the importance of support staff and instructors in assisting adult learners in persisting in their studies. The study reported that the support students received from staff and instructors play a significant part in their decision to continue

27

attending the same school or program. This assistance may include navigating financial aid applications or connecting students with external funding sources.

Adult students frequently return to school to advance economically and socially after gaining work and life experience (Carter, 2000). These students, however, may be able to balance their financial obligations with the demands of school if they receive the necessary financial assistance. Adult learners can better concentrate on their studies without having to worry about money if institutions and employers provide financial assistance.

Overall, financial support for adult ELs is critical to their academic success (Sabboor Hussain et al., 2020). This assistance can help students overcome financial barriers, stay in school, and achieve their educational and career goals.

Adult learners differ from younger learners in their maturity and motivation levels. Their interactions with younger traditional learners often bring a different perspective and create opportunities for knowledge sharing. Adult students typically participate in classes for a specific reason, such as to gain knowledge or skills linked to their jobs that would provide them a competitive edge and raise their chances of getting promoted. According to academics (J. C. Chen, 2014; McDonough, 2014; Merriam, 2001) adult learners are more self-directed and in charge of their education than younger students. They favor individual study and possess a special aptitude for using past experiences as learning tools.

Furthermore, according to (Roe, 2022), learning for adult learners is more effective when it involves practical exercises that are related to their employment or call for the use of problemsolving techniques that are applicable in the real world. As a result, teachers must create classroom activities that are in line with the students' skill requirements. Due to their distinct learning needs, teaching adult learners involves different techniques and strategies (Mahan & Stein, 2014). The ultimate objective of adult education is to address the needs of adult learners by encouraging personal autonomy and self-direction through an effective curriculum, in addition to having a successful program (Merriam, 2001). To teach adults effectively, teachers must provide a collaborative curriculum that is learner-centered, self-directed, and task-oriented and that supports an environment where students may use their real-world experiences to relate their learning (Auerbach, 1993). Instructors can fulfill the specific learning needs of adult learners and support them in achieving their objectives by creating courses that incorporate practical exercises and real-life problemsolving abilities. In conclusion, instructors must modify their teaching techniques to properly address the demands of adult learners since they bring distinct views and motives to the learning environment.

Technology and Language Learning

As educational technology is fast growing, it changes both the teachers' and learners' experiences. Government, industries, and universities invest considerable funds in the development of educational technology to create better applications for educators and enhanced learning opportunities for students (Ankrah & AI-Tabbaa, 2015). There are many educational technology applications, including but not limited to games, online discussions, video/audio interaction, augmented/virtual reality.

A number of scholars have carried out empirical studies regarding implementing technology in classroom instruction (Henderson et al., 2017; Khanlari et al., 2017; Papademetriou et al., 2022; Sert & Boynuegri, 2017). These studies not only stressed the importance of technology, but also the benefits of using technology in the classroom. Henderson et al. (2017) stated the benefits of using technology in learning in their research. They found that students believed that technology made their work efficient because some technology tools do not restrict students to a specific location. They also had unlimited access to their learning materials for studying, especially when technology can provide a digital recording of the learning materials, instructions, and lectures. They also pointed out how technology tools can support students to complete their assignments with functions such as typing, editing, spelling, and grammar. With the fast-paced growth of educational technology, some researchers are interested in how technology and its applications can motivate students' learning and interaction. Technology applications raise students' interest in options of tools. In addition, technology provides learners a place to build a learning community where they feel safe to share their stories and feelings and grow their confidence by accomplishing the class projects. Using technology to motivate students' learning is not new to language instructors. Researchers have identified that technology tools and applications, such as iPads, blogs, Blackboard, and Wikipedia, increase students' motivation (Papademetriou et al., 2022).

The use of technology can also promote independent learning. Learner autonomy involves individuals being aware of their educational needs, preferences, and learning styles. With the help of technology, students can reflect on their actions, progress, areas for improvement, and personal development. Teachers can support and guide students in taking control of their educational journeys by gradually reducing their direct involvement. By assisting students in developing their ability to learn independently, teachers are instilling students with valuable skills. These students are likely to demonstrate innovative thinking and higher levels of engagement. Autonomous learning empowers students to customize their educational experiences based on their unique academic interests and learning styles while monitoring their progress. Prioritizing learning over teaching and placing students at the core of the educational process, autonomous learning is a crucial skill for adult learners. Qi (2019)and Kember (1997) suggest that students can acquire the knowledge and skills necessary for lifelong learning and continuous growth when instruction shifts from teaching to learning.

Lai et al. (2016) found that technology can also promote autonomous language learning when students' learning was not in the classroom. For immigrants, it is unavoidable for them to become lifelong language learners. They must keep learning English for the rest of their lives when they live in an English-speaking country. Being autonomous learners means the students make the decision on what they want to learn and how they learn. They take responsibility for their own learning. Today, new technologies offer unique abilities to accomplish this task with greater success.

Instead of dull memorization of vocabulary, language instructors can utilize applications to help students to increase their vocabulary by using some applications such as playing games with their electronic devices (Wu & Huang, 2017). For example, Wu and Huang (2017) pointed out that students' reactions were positive, and their learning was motivated when games were incorporated into their learning. In their research, they also found the applications provided diverse learning platforms, which increased the engagement and interaction; hence, the boring and repetitive memorization of vocabulary became an exciting, self-monitoring, and selfsatisfying activity.

Even with positive results from playing games in language learning, McNeil (2018) pointed out it is essential to teachers and students to be ready for this new way of instruction. Some instructors and students don't believe that digital games can enhance learning. Teachers need knowledge to design students' activities to accomplish the pedagogical goals and also to boost their expertise on gaming experiences.

Technology developments have changed how languages are taught and learned. One of the essential teaching principles for learning a language is that teachers and students should be able to create and access authentic materials. According to Chinnery (2006),Kessler (2018), Richards (2015), and Shadiev et al., (2015), technology has made it possible for students to practice their language abilities in settings where they can interact with real-world speakers of the language. Ozverir et al., (2016) found that using technology to learn a language can encourage using authentic resources, which is beneficial for learning a language.

The application of augmented and virtual reality is one of the most exciting developments in educational technology. Liu & Tsai (2013), Ruiz-Ariza et al.(2018), and Singh Sidhu et al.(2017) all demonstrated the effectiveness of augmented and virtual reality in language learning. With the aid of these technologies, students can fully immerse themselves in

virtual settings that replicate real-world linguistic situations, making for a more engaging and participatory learning environment. Language learners can practice their language abilities in simulated real-world circumstances utilizing augmented and virtual reality, which improves their language competency and increases their confidence in using the language.

Technology has transformed language learning by giving students access to authentic resources and engaging tools that improve their language learning process. Henderson et al. (2017) focused on how students use technologies to help with their schoolwork and communication. Students explore and find the best applications according to their preferences and utilize the applications to finish tasks. Students tend to use technology as a means of handling their work instead of using it for increasing their knowledge. For example, students may use Google Docs for collaborating with peers. They may also use YouTube to review course content. Some students may use Facebook and Twitter to brainstorm subjects and ideas with their friends.

Mobile Technology

With the increasing use of mobile devices, learners can access language learning resources and communicate with their peers and instructors anytime and anywhere. This ease of use and flexibility promote greater involvement and participation in language acquisition, resulting in better learning outcomes. Mobile technologies have become integral to language learning, offering many benefits beyond completing tasks and social interaction. According to (Gangaiamaran & Pasupathi (2017), mobile technologies can boost students' listening skills, whereas Saidouni & Bahloul (2015) discovered that they could improve speaking skills. Mobile technology can help with writing and reading skills, according to Ravichandran et al. (2017) and Al_Awidi & Ismil (2014). Mobile technologies have also helped language learners with their pronunciation (Fouz-González, 2017; Saran et al., 2009; Segaran et al., 2014). Several mobile apps have dictionaries to help language learners learn new words (Rahimi & Miri 2014; Segaran

et al., 2014; Q. Wu, 2014). Some short message service technology (Abadikhah & Rastegar, 2016) has been shown to help language learners learn new words and phrases.

Technology can help students' language proficiency while also advancing their cultural knowledge. Technology can give students access to real materials and tools that foster crosscultural understanding, according to Angelova and Zhao (2016). For instance, cultural simulations and virtual exchange programs can assist students with experiencing various cultures and developing a greater understanding of them. Applications for augmented and virtual reality, online learning, and mobile learning are some of the most popular technologies utilized in language instruction. Thanks to these technologies, students now have access to many tools and materials that can improve their language learning process.

According to Al-Adwani and Al-Fadley (2022), mobile technology-supported language learning via Microsoft Teams improves students' language proficiency and motivation. They discovered that learners who utilized mobile devices to access language learning resources and participate in online discussions via Microsoft Teams improved their language skills significantly and were more motivated to learn.

Mobile Assisted Language Learning

In Xin et al. (2022) research, it says the number of smartphone users worldwide is projected to reach 7.7 billion by 2027. Smartphone technology companies see the growing user market and are fast developing smartphone applications to keep up with the trend. Therefore, with the advanced development of smartphone technology, the capabilities of a smartphone are beyond just a communication device. They now function as a computer—for example, browsing websites, streaming videos, and gaming. Besides that, a smartphone also can be used as a portal for multimedia resources Sandberg et al., (2011), as well as take pictures, and create videos (Rahimi & Miri, 2014).

Due to the rapid development of mobile technology, the ways students gain knowledge and teachers deliver their instruction have changed (Rahimi & Miri, 2014). Researchers have studied a variety of mobile applications to aid English language learning (Chinnery, 2006). They suggested that using technology is very important to second language learners, especially using mobile devices. When a mobile device is used for acquiring knowledge, students are applying mobile learning in the study (Sandberg et al., 2011) with mobile devices such as smartphones and tablets (Ho, 2018). Flexibility in time and location is one benefit of using mobile technology (Foomani & Hedayati, 2016). Students and instructors can be involved in both formal and informal learning experiences (Kacetl & Klímová, 2019). Mobile learning removes the constraint of learning in a physical location and can enable learning at a student's time and convenience. With a mobile device, students can access the instructional materials any time they want, and collaboration between students can also happen at any time.

Several studies pointed out the impact of mobile-device technologies on students and teachers (Andrei, 2019; Godwin-Jones, 2016; Golonka et al., 2014; Li et al., 2016; Nalliveettil & Alenazi, 2016). Mobile technologies can make learning more personal and flexible than face-to-face learning. Mobile learning is when learners are obtaining and sharing their learning materials and instructions through electronic portable devices (Alsaadat, 2017). As devices become more affordable and sophisticated, educators are seeing the benefits of using mobile technology to assist with learning (Rahimi & Miri, 2014), and developers are seeing the need for better mobile technology applications in the education field.

The idea of mobile learning is to take advantage of its convenience and accessibility. If learners have Wi-Fi/network connection on their mobile devices, they can learn whenever and wherever they want. Due to the affordability of mobile devices, there is an increasing number of educators and students who are using smartphones for educational purposes in K–12 schools, higher education (Samuel Finch et al., 2021) and different disciplines.

More studies are focusing on the impact of mobile learning on language education. In research on mobile learning in higher education, Saidouni & Bahloul (2017) found that both students and teachers have a positive attitude toward using mobile devices to enhance

language learning experiences. Moreover, some studies showed how educators utilize mobile technological applications to augment students' learning especially in language learning (Alsaadat, 2017; Bozdoğan, 2015; Brody & Peña, 2015; Cho et al., 2018; Hwang & Fu, 2019; Patten et al., 2006; Segaran et al., 2014). These technologies assist students' listening, writing, reading, and speaking skills, as well as vocabulary retention, and extend students' learning outside of the classroom. As mobile devices become more sophisticated and advanced, handheld devices such as mobile phones and tablets allow learners more options for how and what they want to learn.

Wong et al. (2013) pointed out that the cultural backgrounds of participants impacted their perceptions of MALL. Hsu also mentioned that affordability was a very important element that affected the perception of MALL. Despite the various culture backgrounds of participants, the result of Hsu's study was positive. Learners were pleased that MALL could provide them with authentic materials, which motivated them learn.

The commonality and accessibility of mobile devices have pushed some teachers to accept mobile learning in their classroom. Some teachers are not comfortable changing the way they have been teaching for most of their educational career to learn something that is so foreign to them. However, to improve students' learning experiences, instructors need to acquire basic knowledge of technology tools so the technology applications can work effectively with students and both teacher and students can gain confidence using the tools. It takes additional learning and preparation work on the teachers' part (Pascual et al., 2018). Additionally, their role as a teacher might occasionally change to a learner in the classroom because students are more skilled in operating the devices than the instructors, and the role changing might cause the instructor to feel uneasy. Instructors can also feel helpless when there are technical issues during instruction (Hughes et al., 2010). Despite the extra work and discomfort that teachers may face while implementing MALL into their instruction, researchers conclude that instructors generally have a positive attitude towards MALL (Dağdeler & Demiröz, 2022; Mulyawan &

Resmayani, 2022;Tra, 2020). Instructors like mobile applications' open access for them share their materials with their colleagues and students (P.L. Liu & Chen, 2015), as well as to keep learning from being restricted to the classroom (Oz, 2015).

Students enjoy the fun and interaction that mobile applications offer (Lin & Yu, 2017). Chen et al., (2019) found that students who use mobile applications to learn vocabulary had a higher retention rate than students who only use definitions and images. Students noticed that when they used the mobile application to learn new words, the images, sound, and animation made their learning more interesting and effective (Berns et al., 2015). Students also enjoy the variety of tools from the mobile applications for being creative (Dadakoğlu et al., 2022) in their schoolwork. Instructors can create assignments with audio and video recordings instead of text only, and students can make a film or multimedia presentation in a real-life situation (Tayan, 2017). With mobile internet connectivity, students can also actively collaborate with their peers with no limitation on time and place (Lai & Zheng, 2018).

Not only do mobile technologies extend students' learning to the outside of the classroom, they also build a student-centered learning environment. The advanced mobile technologies give students control over what and how they want to learn and share (Shadiev et al., 2017) and motivate students' autonomous learning (Oz, 2015). Overall, students offered positive feedback on using mobile devices for learning. Mobile devices are great tools that can provide learners access to unlimited resources, and students can explore knowledge based on their own interests to become active learners (Oz, 2015).

Some researchers are exploring what needs to be addressed as more instructors and students are using mobile applications for learning (Oral & Gök, 2021). For example, creating or using applications with which are easier for students to navigate and interact, or exploring how to design the contents that can be more engaging and interactive to enhance students' learning experience through mobile applications. Dashtestani (2018) pointed out some of the cautions regarding mobile learning. In the research, it stated various advantages from mobile learning,

such as collaboration among students and instructors. Mobile applications also give students a place to express themselves, be creative, and be the master of their learning. The researchers also bring attention to what needs to be addressed in mobile learning. For instance, learners find some applications do not have interesting content, and their learning objective cannot be matched by working with the application (Starbird et al., 2022). Mobile devices have smaller screens and a slower internet connection than computers, and that can cause leaners to have trouble working with it for a long time (Lai & Zheng, 2018). Since students can find their answers on the website through their mobile device, they do not believe they need help from their peers or instructors (Lai & Zheng, 2018).

Shah & Shah (2018) pointed out that it is easy for students to lose interest in using applications to gain knowledge when they no longer believe the application is new and exciting, especially when students can't track their learning due to poor design. Lai (2015) found that it is imperative that teachers understand that even with a user-friendly mobile application, students still need their instructors to demonstrate how to use it. Teachers must not forget to demonstrate how to effectively use applications, help students understand the purpose of using the apps, and foster meaningful learning (Bai, 2019).

Online Learning

To make it easier to access education, educational institutions offer virtual courses for individuals who cannot attend physical establishments due to various factors such as time constraints, geographical limitations, familial responsibilities, health concerns, or disabilities. The advancement of technology and the implementation of well-designed programs have captured students' interest, encouraging their active involvement in online classes. Furthermore, there has been a noticeable rise in young adults (aged 17 to 25) opting for nonresidential, nondaytime, and occasionally intermittent learning experiences while simultaneously juggling work and parenting duties (Kasworm, 2018). Given the popularity of online learning, educational institutions recognize that technology can speed up information sharing. Online learning

requires learners to develop their learning experience by using online tools. Because learners see the unlimited learning resources that the internet can provide, almost 7 million students were taking at least one online class in postsecondary education by 2014 Allen et al. (2016). Online learning has shifted from traditional, on-site, face-to-face instruction to virtual, collaborative, synchronized or asynchronized learning. Wen et al. (2020) Kim et al. focused on online learning technologies and found that an online learning platform has positive effects on students' social connection and motivation. Other research indicates online learning can increase students' autonomous learning (Deymi-Gheriani, 2016; Ho, 2018; Zanca, 2019). Online learning requires learners to be self-directed and self-regulated. Even with positive results on the satisfaction of online learning from students, this presents a challenge for students when they are in an online learning environment (Sun, 2014). To have a successful online learning experience, learners' behaviors are essential. For example, students need to reflect on their learning through discussion forums, plan their life around their courses, commit to a schedule, and keep track of their own work and progress. Online learning platforms often include an asynchronous discussion section for students to participate in their peers' work (Thomas & Thorpe, 2019). Ideally, it should open the opportunity for students to interact with their peers, but the reality is that students actually respond only to certain peers. Collaboration and collective experiences may not happen between peers as expected (Sun, 2014). Students knowing that their instructors are there to assist their learning is critical to online learning. This requires instructors to invest more time and energy into their instruction and does not eliminate the challenge of online learning (Thomas & Thorpe, 2019).

Mandernach et al. (2012) found that online learning is not good for every subject, and not all the instructors can teach online courses effectively. Despite the numerous benefits of remote learning, it is imperative to be aware of the challenges and difficulties. Due to the recent growth of educational technology, online education encountered limitations during early research. Significant disadvantages included the lack of face-to-face interaction between instructors and students (Sun, 2014), which led to student frustration and discouragement when they encountered delays in timely assistance (Huang et al., 2016). According to Zhang and Lin (2020), students do not perform as well as they are expected to in online courses. Students also believe that online courses are easier than in-person courses, so they don't study as hard to pass the course. Schoenfeld et al. (2020) indicated that student grades in an online course are poor compared to grades in face-to-face courses. Chirumamilla et al. (2020) pointed out that instructors have concerns about whether their students complete their online assignments by themselves and take their tests without cheating.

Blended Learning

With the increasing availability and affordability of technology, more educators are combining online and offline features in their instruction. Blended learning, also called hybrid learning, appears to be the favored approach by a lot of instructors (Huang, 2019). In a blended learning environment, students get instruction through online synchronous or asynchronous learning sessions as well as face-to-face learning (Wang et al., 2019). For adult ELs, not only do they want to gain academic language through English language courses, they also want to learn social aspects of the language so they can communicate with their English-speaking co-workers effectively.

Blended learning, which provides English learners with an online learning environment, complements the limitations of online learning by incorporating crucial elements that it cannot completely include. Its ability to facilitate direct interactions with instructors and peers, enrich the learning experience, and nurture a deeper comprehension of course material is an excellent example. Blended learning can help students transition to totally online classes (Alhamami, 2019). Like other instructional approaches, blended learning has some pros and cons that affect language learning. There are more instructor-student interactions in blended learning than solely online learning because of the face-to-face instructional time. Moreover, students can benefit from the instant feedback they get in an in-person class.

Being online opens the door for collecting and researching authentic materials (Schulze & Scholz, 2018) and extends students' learning out of the classroom with real-life context on the internet. In a blended learning environment, instructors can have students gather background knowledge through online resources, for example, websites, or online libraries on their own time. Students read through learning materials and finish the assignments at home. This is also called a flipped classroom. With this flipped approach, instructors can use face-to-face classroom time to provide scaffolding and to stimulate more in-depth discussions in the classroom. The flipped classrooms can help students acquire critical thinking skills via their assignments, which students do before come to class (Capone et al., 2017). This kind of blended learning provides flexibility and gives students more time to process the materials at home so they can be more prepared for the content and ready for higher thinking tasks in class (Wichadee, 2017).

Moving partial instructional delivery online presents challenges for instructors who may believe they need more control over the delivery of course content. In traditional teaching, it is up to the teacher to decide how much information to teach and what topics to cover in a certain amount of time. They can also keep an eye on how students are doing and make sure they are comprehending the content. However, when teaching online, teachers must rely on students to do their work on their own, which can make students feel uncertain (Johnson & Marsh, 2014) to mitigate the challenges come along with online instruction, instructors can consider such as provide clear communication, regular check-ins, encourage collaboration between students and their peers.

In addition to privacy and integrity risks, blended learning also faces logistical difficulties. Some students might not have access to the required technology, such as a computer with a webcam and headphones or high-speed internet service (Chen & Yao 2016). Because of this, students may experience substantial challenges while implementing blended learning activities, which may cause them to feel frustrated or even give up on what they want to learn. Moreover, some assignments may be challenging for students at home, depending on how well they know the language.

Despite these challenges, many instructors and students consider blended learning very beneficial. It offers flexibility and convenience for students who may have other commitments, and it allows instructors to incorporate a variety of instructional strategies and resources to engage students in their learning. The impact of this teaching strategy may be improved by carefully planning online courses and understanding the benefits and drawbacks of blended learning.

Microsoft Teams

MALL is a popular approach to facilitating language learning using mobile devices such as smartphones and tablets. As a collaborative communication platform, Microsoft Teams provides a mobile app that allows learners to access learning materials and communicate with their classmates and instructors anytime and anywhere. Integrating MALL with Microsoft Teams can give language learners a more flexible and straightforward approach to engaging in language learning activities, leading to higher language proficiency (Al-Abidi et al., 2023).

When discussing learning with technology, one frequently envisions specific tools that make it easier and faster for students and teachers to complete tasks or that can eliminate geographical, time, and other barriers. Virtual learning can be done on various video conferencing platforms, including Zoom, Microsoft Teams, Google Meet, and others (Oliveira et al., 2021).

Vu et al. (2021) showed that Microsoft Teams presents excellent functions for an online learning platform. Users of Microsoft Teams can chat, hold audio and video conversations, and exchange files and documents on the platform for communication and collaboration. Users can more easily collaborate on tasks and projects because of its integration with other Microsoft Office 365 programs, including Outlook, Word, and Excel. Teams also offer a variety of tools, such as screen sharing, live captions, and virtual backgrounds, which can improve EL virtual learning experiences.

Microsoft Teams has tools for working together and talking to each other, but it also offers a lot for online learning. It provides students with a central place for course materials, conversations, and assignments, which can help them stay organized and on track. Teams also allows instructors to share multimedia resources, have virtual office hours, and give online lectures and presentations. Even when students and teachers are not physically present in the same place, Teams may aid in creating a more engaging and interactive learning environment with these capabilities.

Microsoft Teams was introduced in 2017 as a part of the Microsoft 365 suite of products. Teams is a platform that allows for secure cooperation. For communication and collaboration, Microsoft Teams users may use the platform to chat, have audio and video discussions, and share files and documents. As a result of its connection with other Microsoft Office 365 apps like Outlook, Word, and Excel, users may more quickly collaborate on tasks and projects.

Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Language Learning

The COVID-19 pandemic drastically altered daily routines and forced public health officials to implement emergency restrictions and policies, such as stay-at-home orders and social distancing measures. As a result, schools and professionals had to develop innovative ways to ensure that education could continue as usual. The emergency restrictions and policies led to a significant shift towards virtual learning platforms, with most face-to-face classes transitioning to online instruction.

However, adapting to online education has been particularly challenging for courses that need in-person instruction, such as lab work, music classes, and language courses. For example, learning and teaching a language relies on meaningful conversation and collaboration between students, which can be challenging to achieve in a virtual environment. Instructors have had to rethink their teaching tactics, modify their pedagogy to correspond with online instruction, and implement activities that inspire students when learning online. Additionally, teachers have had to master new technologies to provide technical assistance to students who may experience difficulties with virtual learning.

Maican & Cocoradă (2021) recommended that instructors take a student-centered approach to online instruction to overcome these obstacles. This strategy involves developing lessons and activities centered on students' needs and interests, increasing student engagement, and establishing a collaborative learning environment. Teachers can use various tools and resources to engage students, such as interactive games, group discussions, and virtual field excursions. Furthermore, teachers can also use assessments and feedback to monitor students' progress and offer help as necessary. The COVID-19 epidemic has presented significant challenges to the education sector. However, it has also provided an opportunity to rethink and adapt teaching and learning approaches to better fit the changing needs of students. By taking a student-centered approach to online instruction, teachers can ensure that students continue to receive a high-quality education despite the challenges posed by the pandemic.

As the government declared the COVID-19 pandemic is over, schools still face the challenge of returning to a traditional in-person model. Many schools employ a hybrid strategy that offers in-person and online learning opportunities (Meltzer et al., 2021). For some institutes, if students who desire or require to take classes online such as those with medical concerns, will receive virtual learning choices. This applies to the faculty, too. In some cases, schools use online resources or let students access materials and tasks virtually to enhance in-person education (V. Lee, 2021). The hybrid strategy keeps online learning available to students while still giving them chances for interaction and socialization in person. In addition, schools are striving to close learning gaps by reengaging students who may have fallen behind during the pandemic. Overall, schools are adjusting to the evolving nature of education and building a more robust and adaptable educational system using the lessons acquired from the pandemic.

43

Summary

This chapter discussed TAM, which explains how individuals adopt and perceive new technologies. It then discussed the difficulties adult ELs experience in adapting to academic, social, and cultural norms in the United States, notably in language proficiency. This chapter also looked at how educational technology, such as mobile technology, mobile-assisted language learning (MALL), online learning, blended learning, and Microsoft Teams, has assisted in language learning and how the COVID-19 epidemic pushed the implementation of technology in education. Finally, the last section highlighted the issues that schools are encountering in returning to traditional in-person teaching following the pandemic and how schools utilize lessons learned during the pandemic to develop more robust and adaptive instruction.

Chapter 3: Methods

This chapter discusses the research methodology and design, data collection, and the data analysis procedure that will be used in this study. The purpose of this study was to assess adult ELs' perceptions of using Microsoft Teams in adult classes. Specifically, the study aims to explore the strength and direction of the correlation between the elements of TAM and using Microsoft Teams in an English language course. The dependent variable is the usage of Microsoft Teams, and the independent variables are the elements of TAM, including PU, PEU, ATU, and BIU (see Figure 2).

Figure 2





TAM is a widely recognized theoretical framework used to explain users' acceptance and use of technology (Kurdi et al., 2020). Through applying the TAM model in this research, the relationships between variables—the use of Microsoft Teams and perceptions of its usefulness and ease of use, as well as attitudes and intentions towards using it—will be analyzed. This study will help educators develop effective strategies to enhance engagement and success among adult ELs who use Microsoft Teams for language learning purposes.

This study sought to answer the research question: what is the strength and direction of the correlation between the variables of the TAM and using Microsoft Teams among adults in a virtual ESL course? The answer to this question will offer insights to how language learners' perceptions of technology relate to their utilization of Teams and can inform educational institutions on how to effectively incorporate technology into language learning programs. This research examined the correlations between variables, such as PU, PEU, ATU, BIU, and students' acceptance of using Teams in language learning with the following hypotheses:

- H1: Perceived usefulness will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.
- H2: Perceived ease of use will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.
- H3: Attitude toward use will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.
- H4: Behavioral intention to use will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.

These hypotheses aim to test the strength and direction of the relationships between these variables, thereby shedding light on the factors that affect the adoption and utilization of Microsoft Teams. A Pearson's correlations coefficient (r) was used to determine whether relationships exist between the variables of the study.

Research Methodological Approach and Study Design

Quantitative research is a systematic and objective approach to investigate phenomena using numerical data. In the context of adult ELs using Microsoft Teams, quantitative research can provide valuable insights into the patterns and relationships between variables. Ahmad et al. (2019) pointed out that quantitative research is a systematic approach for researchers to examine the data. Researchers use statistical models or mathematically derived results to record the information. Its main goal is to determine how one variable affects another directly and make valuable predictions in more comprehensive settings. This type of research is often used to find out how one variable affects another, then to make predictions, and to apply the results to larger populations. This design often uses surveys, questionnaires, or other instruments to collect data from a population sample. The collected data are then analyzed using statistical methods to discover patterns, correlations, and behaviors. In this study, the statistical analysis was using the Pearson's correlations coefficients.

Alternatively, qualitative research is an approach that prioritizes the collection and analysis of nonnumerical data to get a comprehensive understanding of social phenomena (Köhler et al., 2019). This definition shows how different qualitative research methods are from quantitative because qualitative focuses on using interpretive and critical lenses to understand the social world. Qualitative research is beneficial for studying complex human experiences, attitudes, and behaviors that change depending on the situation. On that account, it is less appropriate to the research questions in this study. Therefore, the researcher will use quantitative research with questionnaires for two critical reasons. The first is that the participants are ELs who would possibly need help understanding open-ended interview questionnaires or questions during an interview. This challenge makes using a quantitative research method with questionaries a better choice. Second, the study's research questions coincide with the quantitative research objectives. This research examined the correlations between various factors, such as PU, PEU, and experience, and their impact on students' acceptance of Teams in language learning. The hypotheses were formulated to test the strength and direction of the relationships between these variables, indicating a quantitative correlation research approach is the most suitable approach for this study.

Data Source and Sample

In this quantitative research study, the population consists of adult ELs who use Microsoft Teams for virtual learning. The purpose of this research is to investigate the correlation between the elements of the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) and the use of

47

Microsoft Teams by adult learners in a virtual English as a second language course. By limiting the study to adult English language learners, researcher was able to offer more thorough and focused insights into adult English learners' requirements, difficulties, and experiences with classroom technology. Incorporating minors could make the results unclear and make it difficult to draw solid inferences about adult learners. Therefore, minors were excluded from this research.

The sampling process utilized for this study was convenience sampling, where participants were selected based on their availability and willingness to participate. Convenience sampling is a common nonprobability method used in educational research to choose participants. With this method, participants were chosen based on how easily they can be reached and recruited. The primary advantage of convenience sampling is that it is economical and expedient for data collection (Mweshi & Sakyi, 2020). However, this strategy might only partially represent the population, which could cause bias and make it hard to use the research results in other situations (Alwin & Hauser, 2021). For this study, Survey Monkey was used as an online survey platform in this study to distribute the survey to participants. Researcher sent the Survey Monkey link to colleagues who teach adult ELs using Teams so they can distribute the survey to potential participants. The researcher also used Survey Monkey to identify and recruit participants to achieve the desired sample size.

A quantitative study must have enough participants to conduct the analysis. Alfaddaf and Mahdi (2021) noted that the sample size of 75 of their research was small, which might limit the generalizability of the findings. Therefore, they suggested that increasing the sample size in future studies could lead to better results. Also, Bentler and Chou's (1987) suggestion of maintaining a minimum ratio of five participants per questionnaire item in quantitative research can help determine an optimal sample size. There are 23 items in the questionnaire for this study, so the sample size could be a minimum of 115 participants to ensure reliability. As a novice researcher, the researcher aimed for a sample size of 75–115.

48

Instruments and Tools

The existing questionnaire created by Alfadda and Mahdi (2021) was served as a tool for collecting data on this topic. The survey is to gather quantitative data on various aspects of adult ELs using Teams for learning English. The survey had two sections: one asking for demographic information about the participants and the other concentrating on the study items to measure the correlation of the constructs in TAM and actual use of Teams. The demographic section asked about the participants' age and gender. The questionnaires were created as shown in Table1.

Table 1

Variable	Name	Definition	Number of
			Items
Variable 1	Perceived Usefulness	People tend to use or not use an application to extent to believe it will help them perform their job better	7
Variable 2	Perceived Ease of Use	how comfortable and effortless user feel when they are using a particular technology	4
Variable 3	Attitude	The general attitudes people have toward a given technology, including their thoughts and beliefs about it	4
Variable 4	Behavioral Intention of using Teams	A person aims to use Teams as their primary technology tool for collaboration and communication in a work setting.	5

Variables Measure the Correlation of the Constructs in TAM and Actual Use of Teams

Variable	Name	Definition	Number of
			Items
Variable 5	Actual Use of Teams	The degree to which users use Teams after adopting it is influenced by their perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use	3

Please see the full questionnaire in Appendix A.

Validity and Reliability

Validity and reliability are two essential criteria that determine the quality of instruments and tools used in quantitative research. Validity is how well an instrument measures what it is meant to measure (Surucu & Maslakci, 2020). Reliability is how stable and consistent an instrument's results are over time and in different situations (Bolarinwa, 2015). It is important to ensure that the tools are valid and reliable so that the results can be trusted (Nurfatihah et al., 2021).

Researchers need to use appropriate methods to assess the validity and reliability of their instruments and tools to draw valid and reliable conclusions. Alfadda and Mahdi (2021) and (Yang & Wang, 2019) used Cronbach's alpha to check the reliability of their questionnaires; a Cronbach's alpha of 0.70 or higher is sufficient, and a value of 0.80 or higher is acceptable for research purposes (Olaniy, 2019). Therefore, the researcher is confident that the questionnaires adapted from previous research established the validity and reliability for this study.

Procedures

When collecting data for this quantitative study, several processes was used to ensure the validity of the research design. The first step was to make sure the study complies with ethical standards and protects the rights of the participants is to obtain Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval (Godwin-Jones, 2016). The participants are adult ELs who have used Microsoft Teams for academic purposes.

A survey questionnaire was utilized based on the validated questionnaire by (Alfadda & Mahdi, 2021), which was modified from the Yang and Wang questionnaire (2019), to collect data. In the survey, there are seven questions on PU, three questions about actual use of Microsoft Teams, four questions on PEU, four questions on ATU, and five questions about BIU. Participants will record their answers on a 5-point Likert scale to show how much they agree or disagree with each question.

According to Boysen (2016) online survey platforms can successfully distribute surveys to participants when administered through teachers. As a result, Survey Monkey was used as an online survey platform in this study to distribute the survey to participants. Researcher sent the Survey Monkey link to colleagues who teach adult ELs using Teams so they can distribute the survey to potential participants. The researcher also used Survey Monkey to identify and recruit participants to achieve the desired sample size. Before giving their consent, participants will receive a recruitment letter about the purpose of the study, their role, their privacy, and the potential use of their data (See Appendix B). It will also inform participants that they have the right to decline participation in or withdraw from the study at any time without consequence.

Survey participants are frequently asked to share their beliefs, habits, or experiences (Cohen et al., 1990). However, some of these questions may be sensitive, causing participants to feel uncomfortable answering honestly if they believe their answers are related to their identities. To address this, the researcher collected anonymous responses to encourage honest responses (Burnett & Illingworth, 2007), alleviating participants' concerns about privacy and identity (Kaufman et al., 2009). To protect participants' anonymity, the researcher did not collect any personally identifiable information from participants, thus protecting their privacy and anonymity. Only the research has access to the research data, and data was securely stored to prevent unauthorized access. The researcher safely disposed of the data by shredding paper

51

and/or erasing the data from digital storage devices if there are any. These measures helped protect participants from potential harm and ensured that their responses are kept confidential throughout the research process. And the recruitment and data collection took 3 months, data analysis was complete with 4 weeks and completion of Chapters 4 and 5 for publication took 4 months.

Overall, with a clear and focused survey instrument, appropriate informed consent procedures, and anonymity measures in place, this study was able to provide valuable insights into the experiences of adult ELs using Teams for their English language development classes. By following these procedures, this study aimed to gather accurate and reliable data that contributed to the literature on the effectiveness of Microsoft Teams in enhancing English language learning among adult ELs.

Human Subjects Considerations

Prior to conducting the study, the researcher had the proposed research plan reviewed by the IRB at Pepperdine University to address potential risks, confidentiality, and other issues related to voluntary participation. According to Pepperdine University's policy, a research proposal needs reviewed by the IRB to assist researchers in conducting ethical research. The purpose of the IRB is to ensure that the researcher is respecting the rights of individuals, amplifying benefits for the study, reducing risks to the research subjects, and making sure that research procedures are implemented properly (Barnes et al., 2017).

Education researchers must also safeguard their participants' safety and privacy. For this study, participants signed informed consent, which explained how their privacy and anonymity will be maintained, thus lowering the risks. Before beginning their questionnaire, participants were asked to consent. The researcher securely collected the research data. The research only collected data that was required for the study, the researcher also restricted data access only to approved personnel and ensured that only authorized people can see the data. Furthermore, the researcher ensured that the participants were not forced or influenced incorrectly. When the research was done, the researcher safely disposed of the data by shredding paper or erasing digital storage devices if there were any. By following these procedures, the researcher will ensure the research was conducted ethically and that the rights and wellbeing of the subjects were protected.

To consider that risks will be associated with conducting an online survey is important. For this research, the risks were very minimal. Although online surveys are usually considered low risk, there are still risks that must be addressed. The risk of eye strain or headaches from protracted screen time is a potential minimal physical risk associated with online surveys. To reduce this risk, the researcher ensured that the survey had appropriate font sizes, spacing, breaks, and the ability to save and return to the survey later. A potential psychological risk of participating in an online survey is the possibility that respondents will feel uneasy or distressed when responding to sensitive or personal questions. To lower this risk, the researcher provided explicit information on the survey's purpose and nature, the option to skip questions or withdraw at any time, and contact information for support resources. A possible social risk of taking an online survey for adult ELs is feeling embarrassed or self-conscious about their language proficiency level. To lower this risk, the researcher made sure that the language used in the survey was acceptable and simple enough for the participants to comprehend. Jargon or complicated wording was avoided. Clear instructions on how to complete the survey was also provided by the research.

Proposed Data Analysis Processes

The researcher examined the data for errors before entering the data into SPSS for analysis. Then, the researcher ran descriptive statistics to get an overview of the data, such as mean, standard deviation, and range. After that, the researcher used SPSS to conduct a Pearson's correlation analysis between the variable—usage of Microsoft Teams—and the other variables—the elements of TAM, including PU, PEU, ATU, and BIU. Finally, the researcher analyzed and reported the findings based on the collected data. Pearson's correlation coefficient is a statistical method for determining how strong and in which direction two variables are linked. Person's correlation coefficient *r* has a value between - 1 and 1, and 1 representing positive correlation, 0 indicating no correlation, and -1 indicating negative correlation. According to Al-Fudail and Mellar (2016), a positive correlation exists between students' ATU e-learning platforms and their perceptions of the platforms' usefulness and ease of use. As a result, the findings of this investigation were considering similar to the results from the previous study. When the variables, for example, have a positive relationship, a rise in one follows a rise in the other. According to the hypotheses of this study, a positive correlation between students' attitudes towards Teams and their PU or PEU indicated that as students perceive Teams to be useful or easier to use, their ATU also becomes more positive.

Means to Ensure Internal Study Validity

Internal study validity is a term that describes how much the research design and methodology ensure that the results are accurate and trustworthy. In other words, it refers to how well the study captures the goals of its measurement. Ensuring internal study validity is crucial to the credibility of research findings (Hayashi et al., 2019). To ensure internal study validity, the researcher used various techniques to minimize sources of error or bias that can affect the validity of results. And the researcher planned the steps carefully to ensure the collected data is correct and representative of the population. Statistical analysis was used to identify the extent to which the results obtained were statistically significant and whether they can be attributed to adult ELs using Teams in a virtual ESL class.

Summary

In this study, the researcher utilized a quantitative methods approach to investigate the relationship between TAM variables and the use of Microsoft Teams in an adult English course. An anonymous online survey questionnaire based on Alfadda and Mahdi's (2021) research was used in the study through a secure online platform. SPSS was used to analyze the data using descriptive statistical techniques. Ethical considerations were addressed through informed

consent, and the research took steps to ensure participant privacy and hoped this study's findings might help achieve the research objectives by providing a comprehensive understanding of the research problem and the methods used to address it.

Chapter 4: Findings

Introduction

The purpose of this study was to assess adult ELs' perceptions of using Microsoft Teams in classes. Specifically, the study aimed to explore the strength and direction of the correlation between the elements of the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) and using Microsoft Teams in English language courses. This study addressed the following research question: What are the strengths and directions of the correlations between the elements of the technology acceptance model and the use of Microsoft Teams among adult ELs?

This chapter provides a thorough explanation of the analytical methods used in this study and the data that was obtained, according strictly to the quantitative research method and supporting the research processes described in Chapter 3.

To answer the study's research questions, the researcher used an online survey service to collect data. The research question was: What are the strengths and directions of the correlations between the elements of the technology acceptance model and the use of Microsoft Teams among adult ELs? This research examined the correlations between variables, such as PU, PEU, Attitude, BIU, and students' acceptance of using Teams in language learning with the following hypotheses:

- H1: Perceived usefulness will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.
- H2: Perceived ease of use will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.
- H3: Attitude toward use will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.
- H4: Behavioral intention to use will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.

This chapter is organized into the following sections: results of the data obtained, descriptive statistical analysis, hypothesis testing, findings and implementations, and conclusions of the study. The researcher collected a total of 167 responses from two sources using the Survey Monkey online survey service. One source was from Survey Monkey recruiting service and the other source as from the researcher's colleagues' students. For the collection procedures, the researcher only considered participants who provided consent and completed the entire survey for our analysis. Out of these 167 responses, the researcher noted that two participants were under 19 years old, and 6 participants did not finish the survey. Hence, 159 fully completed responses, which translates to an adjusted completion rate of 96%. In line with the recommendation by Bentler and Chou (1987) to maintain a minimum ratio of five participants per questionnaire item in quantitative research, this study needs 115 sample size; this study exceeds the threshold with total 159 samples. With 23 items in the questionnaire, this study has more than enough participants, ensuring the reliability of our sample size requirement.

Data Collection and Analysis Procedures

The researcher has inclusion questions in the survey to ensure the qualification of the participants and the consent from the participants before they participated the study. The data collected during a 3-week window in 2023. The instrument measured adult English learners' perceptions of using technology in the classroom. The first question is experience in using Microsoft Teams. Then, 23 items categorized under TAM four main constructs: Perceived usefulness, actual use of Teams, perceive ease of use and behavioral intention of English through using Teams.

The researcher used SPSS to perform quantitative data analysis after uploading the data from Survey Monkey. Before the quantitative analysis, the initial dataset (N = 159) was screened for missing data and outlier data. The age requirement for this study is 19 years old or older. Two participants did not meet the age requirement and 6 participants did not complete the

survey. The researcher ran statistical analysis with two sets of data: one with missing data and the other one without missing data. There is no statistical difference between each dataset, therefore, the researcher used the dataset without missing data to run the analysis for this study.

• SPSS is a useful tool for breaking down complex datasets. The researcher uploaded the data from Monkey Survey into SPSS. Then the researcher cleaned the data and checked if there is any missing data. After that, the researcher categorized the variables which were the questions according to the constructs of the TAM. The research first categorized the whole dataset into experience in using Microsoft Teams, PU, AU, PEU, Attitude, and BIU 6 sub categories. Then the researcher ran Person's correlation coefficient to test the hypothesis. And the result is reported in the following section. Then, with the statistical capabilities of SPSS, the researcher created extensive tables and figures that clearly summarizes the combined data. According to the results, the upcoming discussion included the results of every hypothesis and provided a detailed comprehension of the research. This research examined the correlations between variables, such as PU, PEU, Attitude, BIU, and students' acceptance of using Teams in language learning with the following hypotheses.

- H1: Perceived usefulness will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.
- H2: Perceived ease of use will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.
- H3: Attitude toward use will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.
- H4: Behavioral intention to use will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.

Pearson's correlation coefficients (r) were used to determine whether there is a correlation between the study variables reflecting the factors influencing the adoption and usage

of Microsoft groups because the purpose of this measure is to assess the strength and direction of the relationships between these variables.

According to Cohen (1988) when 0.1 < |r| < 0.3, weak linear relationship between the variables; When 0.3 < |r| < 0.5, the relationship is moderate; When f |r| > 0.5, the relationship is strong (|r| means absolute value of *r*).

Descriptive Statistics

The researcher used descriptive statistics for analyzing the survey items. The survey was on a Likert scale to provide the respondents' attitudes and opinions towards the survey questions. Table 2 reflected users' experience on a scale from *1 (poor)* to *5 (excellent)*. Notably, from Table 2, it shows that 3 is the most frequent number in the dataset and it corresponds to *"Good,"* indicates that *"Good"* is the most common rating for the participants.

Question "Experience in using Microsoft Teams," received a mean score of 3.5, a standard deviation of 1.0, a mode of 3 suggest that most of participants rate their experience with Microsoft Teams a little better than "Good," indicating participants' overall experience is more toward positive. Figure1 provides the visualization on the distribution of the dataset. Therefore, the survey results provide insights into respondents' attitudes and perceptions regarding their use of Microsoft Teams. Statistical analysis of the Likert-scale responses revealed several key findings:

Finding 1: In general, users rated their experiences with Microsoft Teams as "*good*" to "*very good*" based on Likert-scale surveys. Statistical analysis revealed a positive correlation, indicating a positive relationship between participants' experiences with the platform.

Finding 2: There is a significant positive correlation between users' perceptions of Microsoft Teams' usefulness and their actual adoption and usage of the platform. Users who see Microsoft Teams is effective, they are more likely to use it.
Finding 3: Ease of use has a clear positive influence on engagement, as shown by the strong link between users' perceptions of Microsoft Teams' usability and their active usage. When users find the platform easy to use, they are more likely to use it regularly.

Finding 4: Users' positive attitudes play significantly to the effectiveness of using Microsoft Groups, as supported by correlational analysis.

Finding 5: Users' intentions or willingness to use Microsoft Teams in the future strongly correlate with their actual usage of the platform, emphasizing a positive relationship between behavioral goals and the use of the application.

Table 2

Experience in Using tools Like

Microsoft Teams

	Ν	%
poor	5	3.1%
fair	20	12.6%
good	58	36.5%
very good	48	30.2%
excellent	28	17.6%



Bar Chart of the Experiences in Using Tools like Microsoft Teams

As shown in Figures 4 to 8 most of the users selected agree and neutral for perceived usefulness, Actual use of Teams, perceived ease of use and behavioral intention. Perceived usefulness has mean 2.24 and Standard Deviation 0.74. Actual use has mean 2.21 and Standard Deviation 0.72. Perceived ease of use has mean 2.09 and Standard Deviation 0.76. Attitude has mean 2.22 and Standard Deviation 0.80. Behavior intention has mean 2.3 and Standard deviation 0.81.

Table 3

Descriptive Statistics for PU

Descriptive Statistics							
N Mean Std. Deviation							
PU	158	2.2369	.74445				
Valid N (listwise) 158							



Histogram of Users' Perceived Usefulness

Table 4

Descriptive Statistics for AU

	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation
AU	158	2.2110	.72207
Valid N (listwise)	158		



Histogram of Users' Actual Use of Teams

Table 5

Descriptive Statistics Table for PEU

	N	Mean	Std. Deviation
PEU	158	2.0886	.75770
Valid N (listwise)	158		



Histogram of Users' Perception of Perceived Ease of Use

Table 6

Descriptive Statistics Table for Actual use of Teams

	N	Mean	Std. Deviation
Atti	158	2.2231	.80384
Valid N (listwise)	158		

Histogram of Attitude



Table 7

Descriptive Statistics Table for Behavior Intention

Ν Mean Std. Deviation BI 158 2.3000 .80721 Valid N (listwise) 158



Histogram of Users' Perception of Behavioral Intention

Reliability Assessment

In Table 8, the set of items are perceived usefulness, actual use of Teams, perceived ease of use, and Behavioral intention. With Cronbach's Alpha 0.96 which means that internal consistency or reliability of questionnaire is high. The items are measuring the same underlying construct consistently. When a questionnaire is highly reliable, it is easier for researcher to compare data across different groups, time periods, or settings. Researchers can confidently assess changes or differences in the construct being measured (MacKenzie et al., 2011). Also, reliable data requires less effort to clean and preprocess. When responses are consistent and reliable, researchers can have greater confidence in the accuracy of the data they are collecting. In summary, a high reliability questionnaire is essential to data collecting. With a highly reliable data set, researchers can confidently use the data to draw meaningful conclusions and make informed decisions (Downing, 2004; see Table 8).

Table 8

Cronbach's Alpha

Reliability Statistics

Cronbach's Alpha	N of Items
.961	24

G Graph

The researcher used scatter plot to identify if there is a relationship showed between actual use and the other variables. From Figure 9 to 12 Each point on the scatter plot represents a data. The x-axis and y-axis of the table correspond to the constructs being compared. All the data points form a line, which means there is linear relationship between the variables. And the trend of the data points is going up from the left to the right which means that it is a positive correlation.

Figure 9

Scatter Plot AU versus PU



Scatter Plot AU versus PEU



Figure 11

Scatter Plot AU versus Attitude







Correlations

The researcher used SPSS to run Person's correlation coefficient to obtain more information on the relationships between the variables.

The correlation matrix (See Table 9) shows that all of the variables are positively correlated with each other. This means that users who find Groups useful and accessible are more likely to use them and have higher behavioral intentions to use them and they are all significant at the 0.01 level.

Correlation coefficients are measures of the strength and direction of the relationship between two variables. A correlation coefficient of 1 indicates a perfectly positive relationship,

Table 9

Correlations

		Experience	;				
		in using					
		Microsoft					
		Teams	PU	AU	PEU	Atti	BI
Experience in	Pearson	1	410**	333**	461**	384**	342**
using Microsof	t Correlation						
Teams	Sig. (2-tailed	I)	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
	Ν	158	158	158	158	158	158
PU	Pearson	410**	1	.838**	.672**	.843**	.862**
	Correlation						
	Sig. (2-tailed	l)<.001		<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
	Ν	158	158	158	158	158	158
AU	Pearson	333**	.838**	1	.620**	.731**	.828**
	Correlation						
	Sig. (2-tailed	l)<.001	<.001		<.001	<.001	<.001
	Ν	158	158	158	158	158	158
PEU	Pearson	461**	.672**	.620**	1	.685**	.706**
	Correlation						
	Sig. (2-tailed	l)<.001	<.001	<.001		<.001	<.001
	Ν	158	158	158	158	158	158
Atti	Pearson	384**	.843**	.731**	.685**	1	.787**
	Correlation						
	Sig. (2-tailed	l)<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001		<.001

		Experience	<u>.</u>				
		in using					
		Microsoft					
		Teams	PU	AU	PEU	Atti	BI
BI	Pearson	342**	.862**	.828**	.706**	.787**	1
	Correlation						
	Sig. (2-tailed)<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	
	Ν	158	158	158	158	158	158

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

indicating that the two variables are equivalent. A correlation coefficient of -1 indicates a perfectly negative relationship, indicating that the two variables are exactly inversely equivalent. A correlation coefficient of 0 indicates no relationship between two variables (Taylor, 1990).

The strongest correlation with a coefficient of 0.862 is between perceived usefulness (PU) and groups' intention to use behavior. This means that users who find Teams more useful are more likely to use them. The second strongest correlation, with a coefficient of 0.843, is between perceived ease of use (PEU) and attitude. Generally, this means that as perceived ease of use increases, so does attitude. Consequently, when users find Teams easier to use (high PEU), they generally exhibit a more positive attitude toward it.

The correlation of 0.838 between PU and AU use indicates a strong positive relationship. With a correlation coefficient close to 1, this suggests a robust positive correlation between PU and the AU of Teams. Essentially, users who perceive Teams as more useful and valuable are more likely to actively use it.

Furthermore, there is a strong moderate correlation of 0.672 between perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use. This suggests a positive relationship between perceived

usefulness and the ease with which groups are perceived as useful. More precisely, as categories of perceived ease of use increase, perceived usefulness also increases, and vice versa. This suggests that users who find Teams easy to use (high perceived ease of use) are more likely to find them useful (perceived usefulness).

Table 10 summarized the outcomes of a series of hypothesis tests conducted to investigate the factors influencing students' adoption of Microsoft Teams. The first hypothesis (H1), which posited that PU has a significant and positive effect on students' attitudes towards using Teams, was accepted. Similarly, the second hypothesis (H2) indicating a positive relationship between PEU and students' PU for Microsoft Teams was supported. The fourth hypothesis (H4) was supported, indicating a positive relationship between intention and PEU. Together these findings provide insight into the factors that contribute to students' positive attitudes and attitudes toward using Microsoft teams in educational settings.

Table 10

Hypotheses	Accepted or Rejected
H1: Perceived usefulness will significantly and positively	Accepted
influence students' attitude towards Teams use.	
H2: Perceived ease of use will positively correlate with	
students' perceived usefulness towards the use of	Accepted
Microsoft Teams.	
H3: Attitude toward use will positively correlate with	Accepted
behavioral intention use of Microsoft Teams.	
H4: Behavioral intention to use will positively correlate	
with Perceived ease of use.	Accepted

Test of Hypothesis

The results also revealed that there is a positive relationship between experience in using Microsoft Teams and PU (r = 0.41). In addition, there is a considerable positive relationship between experience in using Teams and AU (r = 0.333), and PEU (r = 0.461). The results also show that there is positive relationship between experience in using Teams and attitude (r = 0.384) and experience in using Teams and Behavioral Intention (r = 0.342). Overall, the relationships found between experience in using Teams and the other constructs are all positive.

Summary

The primary focus of this research study is to explore how adult English learners perceive and utilize Microsoft Teams in their language classes. This investigation centers on the integration of Microsoft Teams and its relationship with the TAM. Data was collected through an online survey, and the study examined correlations among the variables as actual use, perceived usefulness, ease of use, attitude, and behavioral intention in the context of Microsoft Teams usage.

The research received an impressive response rate, with 159 participants out of 167 providing complete data, exceeding the minimum required sample size. The reliability of the questionnaire was assessed using Cronbach's alpha, resulting in a commendable value of 0.972.

The analysis of participants' experiences revealed a generally positive perception of Microsoft Teams, with most respondents indicating "Good" or higher ratings for their experience. The study's hypotheses were strongly supported, with significant positive correlations found between the TAM constructs and the use of Microsoft Teams.

In summary, this research offers valuable insights into the factors influencing the adoption and usage of Microsoft Teams among adult English learners. The robust positive correlations between key variables and technology acceptance have important implications for the improvement of language education through technology.

Chapter 5 Discussion

Introduction

The number of English Language Learners (ELs) in the United States is expected to increase due to the increasing number of immigrants and refugees entering the country (Carlson & Knowles, 2016). The growing number of ELs has created new educational challenges, including language barriers and cultural differences. The level of English proficiency among immigrants can affect their chances of obtaining fair and equitable jobs. Scholars are interested in how technology can be used to improve language learning and help immigrants meet language requirements for college and employment (Diari et al., 2023; Iberahim et al., 2023; Meniado, 2022). Strategies and policies are needed to help ELs succeed in the education system, and support is necessary for adult ELs who return to school. Technology can provide resources for language development and facilitate communication between ELs, teachers, and peers. The COVID-19 pandemic has further emphasized the need for virtual learning options and technology integration in education (AlMuharraqi & Toworfe, 2021).

The COVID-19 pandemic has unprecedentedly impacted the world, affecting every aspect of society, including education. When COVID-19 hit the whole world with no warning and drastically changed everything, including people's lives, societies, and economies, education was inevitably disrupted (Mohialdin, 2021). Traditional forms of classroom learning were no longer possible, and educators had to quickly adapt to remote teaching methods using platforms such as Teams. As we have navigated through the pandemic and returned to a sense of normalcy, it is crucial to examine and understand the long-term implications of these changes on education (Thembane, 2022).

The TAM informed the design, conduct, and analysis of this study. The purpose of this study is to assess adult English learners' perceptions of using Microsoft Teams in English language classes. Specifically, the study aims to explore the strength and direction of the

74

correlation between the elements of TAM and using Microsoft Teams in an English language course.

The research question sought to determine the correlation between these variables and the use of Microsoft Teams. The study employed quantitative research methods, specifically convenience sampling and an online questionnaire. The population consisted of adult ELs using Microsoft Teams for virtual learning, and the data was collected from 159 participants. The questionnaire included information and items to measure the constructs in TAM and the actual use of Teams. The following hypothesis were used to guide this study:

- H1: Perceived usefulness will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.
- H2: Perceived ease of use will positively correlate with the use of Microsoft Teams.
- H3: Attitude toward use will positively correlate with using Microsoft Teams.
- H4: Behavioral intention to use will positively correlate with using Microsoft Teams.

This chapter provides a detailed summary of the findings. It explores the findings and implications of this study on the application of the TAM in the context of using Microsoft Teams for language learning among adult ELs with a particular focus on using Microsoft Teams in educational contexts Examining the methodology has provided valuable insights into important aspects of the use of technology Furthermore, the chapter also discusses study limitations, its implications for practice and scholarship are carefully discussed, and it offers action recommendations for future research.

Summary of Findings and Conclusion

The results strongly supported the study's hypotheses. They showed a clear and statistically significant positive relationship between using Microsoft Teams and the TAM variables PU, PEU, attitude, and BIU. This considerable correlation validates the TAM model in addressing the complex characteristics associated with adult English language learners' acceptance and utilization of Microsoft Teams. Building on these overall findings regarding the TAM model, the study also uncovered specific insights into users' experiences with Microsoft Teams.

Finding 1: Users generally rated their experiences with Microsoft Teams as "good" to "*very good*" based on a Likert-scale survey. Statistical analysis revealed a positive correlation, indicating a favorable relationship among participants' experiences with the platform.

Finding 2: The study clarified the relationship between Microsoft Teams adoption and perceived usefulness. Results showed a significant positive correlation between users' perceptions of the platform's effectiveness and its usage.

Finding 3: There exists a notable link between users' perceptions of Microsoft Teams' ease of use and their active engagement with the platform, indicating that ease of use positively influences actual use.

Finding 4: Users' positive attitudes significantly contribute to the effectiveness of using Microsoft Teams, as supported by the correlational analysis.

Finding 5: Users' intentions or willingness to use Microsoft Teams in the future strongly correlate with their actual usage of the platform, indicating a positive relationship between behavioral goals and the use of the application.

Conclusions

The study's conclusions support earlier research that examined technology-assisted language acquisition using TAM. As per the findings of Wang et al. (2019) and Spencer & Temple (2021) research suggests that, when properly integrated, technologies like Microsoft Teams can serve as effective educational tools for language learning. The majority of survey respondents expressed satisfaction with Teams for English classes, which is consistent with earlier research showing the effectiveness of technology-mediated learning environments (see Wang et al., 2019).

Furthermore, in line with earlier research, the study's significant correlations confirm that TAM can be used to assess technology integration in language classrooms (Spencer & Temple, 2021). Platforms like Teams help students become proficient in both language and technology, preparing them for careers that demand both skill sets. The results of this study support previous research that highlights the educational value of carefully chosen educational technology tools for language learners. The effectiveness of Microsoft Teams as shown here is consistent with other TAM related studies of technology-assisted language instruction.

Implications for Practice

Numerous studies have examined the use of technology in English language instruction and have shown how versatile it is for improving student performance and collaboration (Evans, 2022; Pal & Vanijja, 2020; Pertiwi et al., 2022). This method, which blends traditional instruction with technology, produces a dynamic learning environment that is especially helpful for adult English language learners (ELs) (Casanova et al., 2020; Yiting et al., 2022).

Finding 1, which shows favorable evaluations on user experiences with Microsoft Teams, corresponds with previous research highlighting the significance of user contentment in educational technology. This finding supports earlier research that emphasizes the importance of user experience and happiness as crucial factors in the adoption of technology in educational environments (Evans, 2022; Pal & Vanijja, 2020). This study's findings demonstrate a clear positive association, reinforcing the implication that a great user experience is essential for successful integration of technology.

Finding 2 further supports the relationship between perceived usefulness and Microsoft Teams adoption, confirming previous research that highlighted the significance of users' perceptions regarding the effectiveness of a technological tool (Pertiwi et al., 2022). This implies that the perceived usefulness of a platform such as Microsoft Teams greatly affects its usage among individuals learning the English language.

Finding 3 emphasizes the significance of ease of use in boosting user engagement with the Microsoft Teams. This finding aligns with prior research that emphasizes the crucial impact of user interface and usability in fostering effective learning experiences (Casanova et al., 2020). This implies the necessity of user-friendly interfaces in technology-based learning environments.

Finding 4 indicated further supports the influence of users' positive attitudes on the effectiveness of using Microsoft Teams, supporting previous research Yiting et al. (2022), that highlighted the importance of a positive attitude in the adoption of technology and the achievement of successful learning outcomes. This implicates that fostering positive attitudes among users may lead to more effective use of Microsoft Teams and improved learning outcomes.

Examining the association between users' intentions and actual usage, specifically in respect to Finding 5, is consistent with previous studies that have shown a strong influence of behavioral intentions on the adoption and utilization of technology in educational settings (Almutairi & Aljumah, 2023). This implicates the need of ensuring that learners' objectives are in sync with their active involvement on the platform.

The study's results together support the advantages of integrating Microsoft Teams into English language learning, emphasizing its ability to establish an engaging and inclusive learning environment for adult English learners. Utilizing technology, specifically, a flexible platform such as Microsoft Teams enhances traditional teaching approaches by catering to the varied learning preferences and ability levels of adult learners (Abidin et al., 2023). This implies that instructional designers, professors, and higher education institutions may want to consider incorporating platforms like Microsoft Teams into language learning curriculum and course design to provide an engaging and inclusive environment for diverse adult learners. Instruction designers should explore ways to leverage the features of Teams to create interactive and effective learning content that aligns with the needs of adult English learners. Professors can incorporate collaborative activities, multimedia resources, and interactive discussions within the Teams platform to make the learning experience more dynamic and tailored to individual student needs. Institutions should consider providing training and support for instructors to effectively use Microsoft Teams in language learning classes. Additionally, the Technology Acceptance Model provides guidance on how universities can foster platforms like Microsoft Teams among students, with a focus on improving perceived usefulness, ease of use, and promoting positive attitudes.

The survey analysis indicated that users' perceptions of Microsoft Teams' usability, usefulness, and ease of use have significant positive relationships with users' experiences, attitudes, intentions, and users' behaviors related to the application. This suggests that improving these factors could increase users' acceptance and participation.

Research Recommendations

Despite these study limitations, many measures were taken to guarantee the reliability of the results. The study used rigorous techniques to gather and analyze data, such as validated instruments and standardized processes. The researchers tried to reduce potential sources of bias and error through thorough study design, measurement, and quality control processes, even though no study is perfect. There is cause for confidence in the results' reliability, especially with larger datasets.

Promoting Technological Research

As previously stated in the conclusions section, Microsoft Teams is a noticeable initiator in improving the educational achievement of adult English language learners. It is recommended that to explore a broader range of technological resources beyond Teams alone; for example, investigating and comparing various collaboration tools, such as Slack, Zoom etc. and analyze their features, strengths, weaknesses, and user experiences.

Identify the specific use cases where each tool excels and where it may fall short. The findings of Lyu & Wang (2018) recommended the importance of setting up a beneficial platform that encourages instructors to be creative and innovative which matches the finding of this study. Such a platform should also motivate students to actively use technology and explore various digital resources to enhance their language skills. Microsoft Teams has been identified as a captivating and pleasurable platform for learning, and its features can be leveraged to create engaging learning experiences.

One finding from this research on the promoting technology aspect is to recognize the crucial requirement for instructional approaches to adjust and accommodate the diverse needs and preferences of adult English language learners (Severinsen et al., 2018).

Exploring the impact of various factors on adult English learners' acceptance of technology in language learning is a compelling direction for future research. A mixed method can be applied for investigating socioeconomic position, access to resources, and instructor support as critical factors may help us better understand the dynamics that determine technology adoption in this demographic. Understanding how socioeconomic characteristics interact with technological access and utilization among adult learners can provide important insights into the differences and barriers that different socioeconomic groups encounter (Porter & Donthu, 2006). Therefore, combining methodologies is recommended to provide comprehensive insights into technology use by adult English learners across socioeconomic segments. Furthermore, evaluating the critical function of instructional support for facilitating or blocking technology adoption provides a multifaceted viewpoint needed for designing effective educational interventions. The researcher can use a qualitative phenomenological study to evaluating the role of instructional support in technology adoption. Future research findings can provide actionable recommendations to promote inclusive and supportive environments that

foster technological adoption among adult English learners, which enhances the effectiveness of language learning programs by investigating these external factors.

Longitudinal Studies

Longitudinal studies offer a unique perspective for observing the persistent impacts and ongoing challenges related to technology acceptance (Tao et al., 2022). They comprehensively understand the factors influencing technology adoption, revealing its transformative potential in language acquisition. Additionally, they shed light on the evolving limitations and changes in education over extended periods. Such studies are invaluable in exploring the complex dynamics inherent in adopting and sustaining technologies like Microsoft Teams among adult English language learners (Audette et al., 2019).

It is recommended to use this approach to facilitate in-depth and extensive investigations over extended periods, allowing for a comprehensive understanding of how this demographic gradually integrates and utilizes various technological tools. Through this method, researchers gain insights beyond surface-level observations. They can better comprehend the ongoing nature of adoption and engagement and the subtle yet crucial shifts in attitudes toward using technology for language learning among adult English learners.

These studies significantly enhance education discussions (Wiest et al., 2019) and hold practical implications for educators, instructional designers, and policymakers. The insights gained aid in developing more nuanced, successful, and tailored technology-based language learning programs. Consequently, these programs can better accommodate the evolving needs and preferences of adult English learners, thereby improving their language acquisition efforts over time

Practice Recommendations

Virtual learning environments should continue to emphasize enhancing the user experience as a critical goal. To potentially experience increased engagement and motivation among adult English learners, consider implementing customized designs and interactive features on these platforms, which can positively impact learning outcomes. Teachers are encouraged to adopt creative teaching methods and account for individualized learning paths for each student. Microsoft Teams plays a crucial role in this regard by providing flexibility and empowering learners to shape their own educational journeys (Evans, 2022), representing notable progress. Microsoft Teams' versatility to craft customized learning experiences for every student. This involves utilizing personalized assignments, incorporating exciting and varied media content, and facilitating conversational exchanges on the platform. Teachers can optimize learning by employing tailored techniques on platforms such as Microsoft Teams (Anisimova et al., 2022). This enables students to thrive and advance based on their personal strengths and preferences. The significance of ongoing scholarly research in educational technology cannot be overstated. This study extends understanding by examining how adult English learners' use of technology affects their language learning. To establish a landscape for knowledge sharing, researchers should actively share their work through conferences, academic journal articles, and workshops.

This study has shown that academic achievement is enhanced by strategies that reflect skills and learning preferences in adult English (Razkane et al., 2021). Since Teams can provide personalized learning tailored to each learner's needs, it promotes a more focused educational experience (Ali et al., 2021). Additionally, rich media resources like audio recordings, interactive presentations, and videos on Teams can increase understanding and engagement while accommodating different learning styles. Furthermore, the platform's interactive features make it easier for students to communicate in real time, enabling them to engage in active and collaborative exchanges of ideas. The study also showed that this flexible use of technology helps teachers create vibrant, inclusive learning environments to meet the needs of adult English learners.

Education Professional Development

It is recommended that educators engage in ongoing professional development to stay updated on technological and pedagogical innovations. Participating in the collaborative projects, seminars, and workshops centered on incorporating technology such as Microsoft Teams into language instruction can help teachers to create engaging lessons that adult English language learners will find appealing.

Promoting cooperative research projects between academics, instructors, and business partners can spur innovation and make it easier to create innovative teaching tools. Collaborations between academic institutions and business sectors can help facilitate the integration of theoretical knowledge with real-world applications, guaranteeing the applicability and effectiveness of technological solutions in learning environments.

Study Limitations

The purpose of this study was to assess adult ELs' perceptions of using Microsoft Teams in classes. Specifically, the study aimed to explore the strength and direction of the correlation between the elements of TAM and using Microsoft Teams in English language courses. Even though helpful information was gathered, it is essential to be aware of and deal with some the limitations and how future research can continue to develop our understanding of this topic.

Acknowledging that due to the online recruitment and technology, the participants may have been more comfortable with technology than the general population. The primary limitation is the relatively small sample size used in this study. The outcomes derived may need to be more applicable or generalizable in scope due to the potential consequences of the small sample size. In recognition, conducting future studies with a substantially larger sample size would be highly beneficial. Increasing the number of participants could strengthen the statistical reliability of the results, thereby enhancing the overall validity and efficacy of the model.

Furthermore, since the survey did not collect the demographic details such, the participants' primary language, duration of stay in the in the United States, their educational

background, prior knowledge of technology, comfort level with technology and their perceptions of the quality of their instructor, these limitations could guide future research by fellow researcher.

Another limitation is that this study only collected quantitative data, which allowed for correlation of variables but not for understanding the reasons behind those correlations. This calls for a more in-depth qualitative exploration of students' Teams experiences. For example, in-depth interviews, focus groups, or open-ended surveys can provide detailed knowledge about the factors that influence student behavior (Usman et al., 2020). Qualitative methods allow researchers to dive deeper into the experiences of participants, providing unique insights that cannot be captured by quantitative data alone. These methodologies may reveal the underlying causes of specific impressions, provide insights into unique user experiences, and provide a broader overview of the platform's impact on students' learning and engagement.

This study might have overlooked the long-term effects of applying Teams on students' academic achievement, learning outcomes, or long-term involvement. A more thorough knowledge of the platform's effectiveness might come from knowing how consistent use affects students' overall educational experiences, skill retention, or academic performance. Studies with a longitudinal design that monitor students' development over time may clarify the long-term impacts and changing perspectives on using Teams as an instructional tool.

An additional constraint is the dependence on self-reported data. Future studies may consider incorporating observational data to address this potential drawback, creating a triangulation of viewpoints. Incorporating observational insights into self-reports would strengthen the validity of the results and overcome the potential drawbacks associated with exclusively depending on self-reported data.

Concluding Thoughts

The study's conclusions support earlier research that examined technology-assisted language acquisition using TAM. As per the findings of Wang et al. (2019) and Spencer and

Temple (2021), research suggests that, when properly integrated, technologies like Microsoft Teams can serve as effective educational tools for language learning. The majority of survey respondents expressed satisfaction with Teams for English classes, which is consistent with earlier research showing the effectiveness of technology-mediated learning environments (see Wang et al., 2019).

Furthermore, in line with earlier research, the study's significant correlations confirm that TAM can be used to assess technology integration in language classrooms (Spencer & Temple, 2021). Platforms like Teams help students become proficient in both language and technology, preparing them for careers that demand both skill sets. The results of this study support previous research that highlights the educational value of carefully chosen educational technology tools for language learners. The effectiveness of Microsoft Teams as shown here is consistent with other TAM related studies of technology-assisted language instruction.

The results emphasize incorporating technology in adult English learners' learning and the need for additional research. Future research must prioritize comprehending user experiences, ensuring that teaching techniques align with the capabilities of technology. Finally, continued study in these fields is essential to producing beneficial outcomes in terms of maximizing the implementation of technology tools in the classroom, guaranteeing broad participation, and satisfying the various educational demands of students.

REFERENCES

- Abadikhah, S., & Rastegar, S. (2016). Learning English Phrasal Verbs Through Interactive Text-Messaging. In *Jurnal Pendidikan Malaysia* 41,(1), 79-86
- Ahmad, S., Wasim, S., Irfan, S., Gogoi, S., Srivastava, A., & Farheen, Z. (2019). Qualitative v /
 s . Quantitative Research- A Summarized Review. *Population*, 1(2), 2828–2832.
 https://doi.org/10.18410/jebmh/2019/587
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1980). Understanding attitudes and predicting social behavior. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- Al-Abidi, S., Owais, A., & Alabedi, F. (2023). The effects of using MS Teams mobile application on language learners' motivation during and after the Covid 19 pandemic. *World Journal of English Language*, *13*(2), 260. <u>https://doi.org/10.5430/wjel.v13n2p260</u>
- Al-Adwani, A., & AlFadley, A. (2022). Online learning via Microsoft TEAMS during the Covid-19 pandemic as perceived by Kuwaiti EFL learners. *Journal of Education and Learning, 11*(1), 132-142. <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/jel.v11n1p132</u>
- Alfadda, H. A., & Mahdi, H. S. (2021). Measuring students' use of zoom application in language course based on the technology acceptance model (TAM). *Journal of Psycholinguistic Research, 50*(4), 883-900. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10936-020-09752-1</u>
- Al-Fudail, M., & Mellar, H. (2016). Investigating teacher and student attitudes towards using elearning platforms in Kuwaiti higher education. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society, 19*(3), 100-112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2016.03.005</u>
- Alhamami, M. (2019). Learners' beliefs about language-learning abilities in face-to-face & online settings. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education, 16*(1), 1-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-019-0162-1</u>
- Al-Mekhlafi, A. M., & Al-Mashhadani, S. A. (2018). Effectiveness of using technology in English language teaching in government primary schools in Yemen. *Education and Information Technologies*, 23(4), 1681-1695. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-018-9716-7</u>

- AlMuharraqi, M., & Toworfe, G. K. (2021). Impact of virtual learning on foundation mathematics students in a higher education institution in the Gulf during the COVID-19 Era. *Journal of Teaching and Teacher Education*, *9*(2), 91-93. https://doi.org/10.12785/itte/090205
- Almutairi, R. T., & Aljumah, F. H. (2023). The effects of using microsoft teams on improving eff
 learners speaking abilities at unaizah high school students. *English Language Teaching*,
 16 (2), 53-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v16n2p53</u>
- Al-Qahtani, S., & Higgins, S. (2020). Exploring the impact of using Microsoft Teams for online teaching and learning in higher education. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society,* 23(4), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.14314/jets.v23i4.2336
- Alsaadat, K. (2017). Mobile learning-an alternative approach in higher education. European *Journal of Alternative Education Studies, 2*(1), 101-113. <u>https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.815474</u>
- Alwin, D. F., & Hauser, R. M. (2021). The power of convenience samples in social science research. American Sociological Review, 86(4), 645-669. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00031224211017384</u>
- AlAdwani, A., & AlFadley, A. (2022). Online Learning via Microsoft TEAMS During the Covid-19
 Pandemic as Perceived by Kuwaiti EFL Learners. *Journal of Education and Learning*, *11*(1), 132–146. https://doi.org/10.5539/jel.v11n1p132
- Alfadda, H. A., & Mahdi, H. S. (2021). Measuring Students' Use of Zoom Application in Language Course Based on the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM). *Journal of Psycholinguistic Research*, *50*, 883–900. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10936-020-09752-1
- Ali, S., Hafeez, Y., Abbas, M. A., Aqib, M., & Nawaz, A. (2021). Enabling remote learning system for virtual personalized preferences during COVID-19 pandemic. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, *80*(24), 33329–33355. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11042-021-11414-w

AlMuharraqi, M., & Toworfe, G. K. (2021). Impact of Virtual Learning on Foundation

Mathematics Students in a Higher Education Institution in the Gulf During the COVID-19 Era. *Journal of Teaching and Teacher Education*, *9*(2).

https://doi.org/10.12785/itte/090205

- Alsaadat, K. (2017). MOBILE LEARNING AN ALTERNATIVE APPROACH IN HIGHER EDUCATION. *European Journal of Alternative Eudcation Studies*, *2*(1), 101–112. https://doi.org/10.5281/ZENODO.815474
- Andrade, M. S. (2006). International students in English-speaking universities: Adjustment factors. *Journal of Research in International Education, 5*(2), 131-154.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1475240906065589

- Andrei, E. (2019). Adolescent English learners' use of digital technology in the classroom. *Educational Forum, 83*(1), 102-120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131725.2018.1478474</u>
- Anette Dieck-Assad, F., & de Monterrey, T. (2018). Digital teaching: In search of an effective paperless platform for classroom activities. *Journal of International Education Research, 14*(2), 1-8. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.19030/jier.v14i2.10217</u>
- Angelova, M., & Zhao, Y. (2016). Using an online collaborative project between American and chinese students to develop ESL teaching skills, cross-cultural awareness and language skills. *Computer Assisted Language Learning, 29*(1), 167-185.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2014.907320

- Anisimova, T. I., Sabirova, F., Shatunova, O., Bochkareva, T. N., & Vasilev, V. L. (2022). The quality of training staff for the digital economy of Russia within the framework of STEAM education: Problems and solutions in the context of distance learning. *Education Sciences*, *12*(2), 87. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci12020087
- Arasaratnam, L. A. (2016). Intercultural competence. Arasaratnam, L. Intercultural
 Competence. Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Communication. Retrieved 21 May.
 2023, from

https://oxfordre.com/communication/view/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228613.001.0001/ac refore-9780190228613-e-68. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228613.013.68

Arbona, C., & Jimenez, C. (2014). Minority stress, ethnic identity, and depression among Latino college students. *Journal of Counseling Psychology, 61*(1), 162-168.

https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034914

Audette, L. M., Hammond, M. S., & Rochester, N. K. (2019). Methodological issues with coding participants in anonymous psychological longitudinal studies. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 80(1), 163-185.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164419843576

- Azar, A. S., & Tan, N. H. I. (2020). The application of ICT techs (mobile-assisted language learning, gamification, and virtual reality) in teaching English for secondary school students in Malaysia during covid-19 pandemic. *Universal Journal of Educational Research*, 8(11 C), 55-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2020.082307</u>
- Bai, H. (2019). Pedagogical practices of mobile learning in K-12 and higher education settings. *TechTrends*, *63*(5), 611-620. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-019-00419-w</u>
- Bao, W. (2020). COVID-19 and online teaching in higher education: A case study of Peking University. *Human Behavior and Emerging Technologies*, 2(2), 113-115. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbe2.191
- Barnes, M. A., Riggan, S. E., & Rodriguez, M. J. (2017). Balancing science and protection of human subjects in research: Institutional review board perspectives. *Journal of College Student Development, 58*(1), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2017.0001</u>
- Barrot, J. S. (2016). Using Facebook-based e-portfolio in ESL writing classrooms: Impact and challenges. *Language, Culture and Curriculum, 29*(3), 286-301. https://doi.org/10.1080/07908318.2016.1143481
- Batalova, J., Burrows, M., & Zong, J. (2019). Frequently Requested Statistics on Immigrants and Immigration in the United States. In *Migration Policy Institute*. essay. Retrieved

February 12, 2024, from https://www.migrationpolicy.org/article/frequently-requested-statistics-immigrants-and-immigration-united-states-2018.

- Behfar, K., Mannix, E. A., Peterson, R. S., & Trochim, W. M. K. (2010). Conflict in Small Groups: The Meaning and Consequences of Process Conflict. *Small Group Research*, *42*(2), 127–176. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496410389194
- Beltekin, E., & Kuyullu, I. (2020). The effect of coronavirus (Covid19) outbreak on education systems: Evaluation of distance learning system in Turkey. *Journal of Education and Learning, 9*(4), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.5539/jel.v9n4p1</u>
- Bengo, N. M. de A. (2020, February 13). Managing instructional strategies in classrooms with adult learners. *Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 0(0), 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1080/07377363.2020.1712578
- Bentler, P. M., & Chou, C. P. (1987). Practical issues in structural modeling. *Sociological Methods & Research, 16*(1), 78-117. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124187016001004</u>
- Berns, A., Palomo-Duarte, M., Dodero, J. M., Ruiz-Ladrón, J. M., & Marquez, A. C. (2015).
 Mobile apps to support and assess foreign language learning. *Thouësny, 2015*, 51-56.
 https://doi.org/10.14705/rpnet.2015.000309
- Bertram, D. M., Poulakis, M., Elsasser, B. S., & Kumar, E. (2014). Social support and acculturation in Chinese international students. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development, 42*(2), 107-124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1912.2014.00048.x</u>
- Bierwiaczonek, K., & Waldzus, S. (2016). Socio-Cultural factors as antecedents of cross-cultural adaptation in expatriates, international students, and migrants: A Review. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 47(6), 767-817. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022116644526</u>
- Boafo-Arthur, S. (2014). Acculturative experiences of Black-African international students. *International Journal for the Advancement of Counselling, 36*(2), 115-124. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10447-013-9194-8

- Bolarinwa, O. A. (2015). Principles and methods of validity and reliability testing of questionnaires used in social and health science research. *Nigerian Postgraduate Medical Journal*, 22(4), 195-201. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/1117-1936.173959</u>
- Boysen, G. A. (2016). Using Student Evaluations to Improve Teaching: Evidence-Based Recommendations. *Scholarship of Teaching and Learning in Psychology*, *2*(4), 273–284. https://doi.org/10.1037/stl0000069
- Bozdoğan, D. (2015). MALL revisited: Current trends and pedagogical implications. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 195*(3), 932-939.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.06.373

- Brody, N., & Peña, J. (2015). Equity, relational maintenance, and linguistic features of text messaging. *Computers in Human Behavior, 49,* 449-506. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.03.037
- Brown, A. V. (2012). Learning English on her own—almost: The facilitative role of one immigrant's daughter. *Journal of Latinos and Education*, *11*(4), 218–231. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15348431.2012.715495</u>
- Canagarajah, S. (2002). Multilingual Writers and the Academic Community: Towards a Critical Relationship. *Journal of English for Academic Purposes*, *1*(1), 29–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1475-1585(02)00007-3
- Cao, S., Zhou, S., Luo, Y., Wang, T., Zhou, T., & Xu, Y. (2022). A review of the ESL/EFL learners' gains from online peer feedback on English writing. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *13*(October), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.1035803

 Capone, R., De Caterina, P., & Mazza, G. A. G. (2017). Blended Learning, Flipped Classroom and Virtual Environment: Challenges and Opportunities for the 21St Century Students. *EDULEARN17 Proceedings*, *1*(July), 10478–10482. https://doi.org/10.21125/edulearn.2017.0985

Carlson, D., & Knowles, J. E. (2016). The Effect of English Language Learner Reclassification

on Student ACT Scores, High School Graduation, and Postsecondary Enrollment: Regression Discontinuity Evidence From Wisconsin. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, *35*(3), 559–586. https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.21908

- Carrier, K. A. (2005). Supporting Science Learning through Science Literacy Objectives for
 English Language Learners . *Science Activities: Classroom Projects and Curriculum Ideas*,
 42(2), 5–11. https://doi.org/10.3200/sats.42.2.5-11
- Carter, P. (2000). Access courses: Meeting the needs of the adult learner. *The Law Teacher*, *34*(3), 289–295. https://doi.org/10.1080/03069400.2000.9993063
- Casanova, D., Huet, I., Garcia, F. M., & Pessôa, T. (2020). Role of Technology in the Design of Learning Environments. *Learning Environments Research*, *26*(3), 413–427. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-020-09314-1
- Cerezo, A., & McWhirter, B. T. (2012). A Brief Intervention Designed to Improve Social Awareness and Skills to Improve Latino College Student Retention. *College Student Journal*, 867–880.
- Ceron, J., Baldiris, S., Quintero, J., Garcia, R. R., Saldarriaga, G. L. V., Graf, S., & Valentine, L.
 D. L. F. (2021). Self-Regulated Learning in Massive Online Open Courses: A State-of-the-Art Review. *IEEE Access*, *9*, 511–528. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3045913
- Chang, C. C., Yan, C. F., & Tseng, J. S. (2012). Perceived Convenience in an extended technology acceptance model. *Mobile Technology and English Learning for College Students*, 28(5), 809–826.

http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?scp=84865568921&partnerID=8YFLogxK%5Cnh ttp://www.scopus.com/inward/citedby.url?scp=84865568921&partnerID=8YFLogxK

Chen, C., Liu, H., & Huang, H. (2019). Effects of a Mobile Game-Based English Vocabulary Learning App on Learners' Perceptions and Learning Performance: A Case Study of Taiwanese EFL Learners. *Recall*, *31*(2), 170–188.

https://doi.org/10.1017/s0958344018000228

Chen, J. C. (2014). Teaching nontraditional adult students: Adult learning theories in practice. *Teaching in Higher Education*, *19*(4), 406–418. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2013.860101

- Chen, T., Peng, L., Jing, B., Wu, C., Yang, J., & Cong, G. (2020). The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on User Experience with Online Education Platforms in China. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, *12*(18), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU12187329
- Chen, W. S., & Yao, A. Y. T. (2016). An Empirical Evaluation of Critical Factors Influencing Learner Satisfaction in Blended Learning: A Pilot Study. *Universal Journal of Educational Research*, 4(7), 1667–1671. https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2016.040719
- Chen, Z., Chen, W., Jia, J., & An, H. (2020). The effects of using mobile devices on language learning: a meta-analysis. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 68(4), 1769–1789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-020-09801-5
- Cheng, G., & Chau, J. (2013). A study of the effects of goal orientation on the reflective ability of electronic portfolio users. *Internet and Higher Education*, *16*(1), 51–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2012.01.003
- Cheung, R., & Doug, V. (2013). Predicting User Acceptance of Collaborative Technologies: An Extension of the Technology Acceptance Model for E-learning. *Computers & Education*, 63, 160–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2012.12.003
- Chinnery, G. M. (2006). Going to the MALL : Mobile Assisted Language Learning. *Language Learning & Technology*, *10*(1), 9–16. https://doi.org/ISSN 1094-3501
- Chirumamilla, A., Sindre, G., & Nguyen-Duc, A. (2020). Cheating in e-exams and paper exams: the perceptions of engineering students and teachers in Norway. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *45*(7), 940–957. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2020.1719975
- Cho, K., Lee, S., Joo, M. H., & Becker, B. J. (2018). The effects of using mobile devices on student achievement in language learning: A meta-analysis. *Education Sciences*, *8*(3), 13–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci8030105

- Chostelidou, D., Griva, E., & Tsakiridou, E. (2015). Language Learners' Skills and Strategies:
 Assessing Academic Needs in a Multilingual Context. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *191*, 1472–1478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.04.442
- Ciriza-Lope, M., Shappeck, M., & Arxer, S. (2016). Emergent Target Language Identities Among Latino English Language Learners. *Journal of Latinos and Education*, *15*(4), 287–302. https://doi.org/10.1080/15348431.2015.1134535
- Cohen, R. Y., Brownell, K. D., & Felix, M. R. J. (1990). Age and Sex Differences in Health Habits and Beliefs of Schoolchildren. *Health Psychology*, *9*(2), 208–224. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.9.2.208
- Cordeur, M. L. Le, & Tshuma, L. (2019). Intermediate Phase Mathematics Teachers' Linguistic Proficiency in the Language of Learning and Teaching: The Eastern Cape Province. *Per Linguam*, *35*(3). https://doi.org/10.5785/35-3-849
- Cox, E. (2012). Coaching and Adult Learning: Theory and Practice. In *NEW DIRECTIONS FOR ADULT AND CONTINUING EDUCATION* (pp. 27–38). https://doi.org/10.1002/ace
- Cozma, M. (2015). The Challenge of Teaching English to Adult Learners in Today's World. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 197, 1209–1214. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.07.380
- Crompton, H., Burke, D., Jordan, K., & Wilson, S. W. G. (2021). Learning with technology during emergencies: A systematic review of K-12 education. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 52(4), 1554–1575. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.13114
- Dadakoğlu, S. C., Bakar-Fındıkçı, M., & Özdemir, A. Ö. (2022). Contribution of Mobile Design Applications to Creativity in Visual Arts Education. *International Journal of Innovative Approaches in Education*, *6*(2), 96–117. https://doi.org/10.29329/ijiape.2022.456.2
- Dağdeler, K. O., & Demiröz, H. (2022). EFL Instructors' Perceptions of Utilizing Mobile-Assisted Language Learning in Higher Education. *Acta Educationis Generalis*, *12*(2), 22–40. https://doi.org/10.2478/atd-2022-0012

- Dagdeler, K. O., Konca, M. Y., & Demiroz, H. (2020). The Effect of Mobile-Assisted Language Learning (MALL) on EFL Learners' Collocation Learning. *Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies*, *16*(1), 489–509. https://doi.org/10.17263/jlls.712891
- Dahman, M. R., & Dağ, H. (2019). Machine learning model to predict an adult learner's decision to continue ESOL course. *Education and Information Technologies*, *24*(4), 2429–2452. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-019-09884-5
- Dashtestani, R. (2018). Collaborate Academic Projects on Social Network Sites to Socialize EAP students into Academic communities of Practice. *Teaching English with Technology*, *18*(2), 3–20. http://www.tewtjournal.org
- Davis, F. D. (1989). Perceived Usefulness, Perceived Ease of Use, and User Acceptance of Information Technology. *MIS Quarterly: Management Information Systems*, *13*(3), 319– 339. https://doi.org/10.2307/249008
- Dehghanzadeh, H., Fardanesh, H., Hatami, J., Talaee, E., & Noroozi, O. (2021). Using
 Gamification to Support Learning English as a Second Language: a Systematic Review. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, *34*(7), 934–957.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2019.1648298

Deymi-Gheriani, Z. (2016). Online Language Learning and Teaching Pedagogy: Constructivism and Beyond. *International Journal of Social, Behavioral, Educational, Economic, Business and Industrial Engineering*, *10*(8), 2922–2928. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.1127378

Diari, K. P. Y., Suwarna, S., & Suweta, I. M. (2023). Mobile Technology-Mediated Language
Learning: A Quantitative Study to Unravel Language Learners' Achievement and
Autonomy. *World Journal of English Language*, *13*(5).
https://doi.org/10.5430/wjel.v13n5p354

Douglas, Scott R, & Kim, M. (2015). Task-Based Language Teaching and English for Academic Purposes: An Investigation into Instructor Perceptions and Practice in the Canadian Context. *TESL Canada Journal*, *31*(8), 1. https://doi.org/10.18806/tesl.v31i0.1184
- Douglas, Scott Roy, & Rosvold, M. (2018). Intercultural Communicative Competence and English for Academic Purposes: A Synthesis Review of the Scholarly Literature. *Canadian Journal of Applied Linguistics*, *21*(1), 23–42. https://doi.org/10.7202/1050809ar
- Downing, S. M. (2004). Reliability: On the Reproducibility of Assessment Data. *Medical Education*, *38*(9), 1006–1012. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2929.2004.01932.x
- Dutro, S., Levy, E. K., & Moore, D. W. (2011). Equipping Adolescent English Learners for Academic Achievement: An Interview With Susana Dutro and Ellen Levy. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 55(4), 339–342. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaal.00041
- Evans, N. R. (2022). Microsoft Teams Supports Authentic Assessment of Learning. *Journal of Teaching and Learning With Technology*, *11*(1), 37–50. https://doi.org/10.14434/jotlt.v11i1.34595
- Everly, P. (2019). Expanding Pronunciation Instructional Time beyond the Classroom: Microsoft Office 2016 OneNote Class Notebook as an Interactive Delivery Platform LK https://pepperdine.on.worldcat.org/oclc/8259031515. *TESOL Journal TA - TT -, 10*(2).
- Evers, K., & Chen, S. (2022). Effects of an automatic speech recognition system with peer feedback on pronunciation instruction for adults. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 35(8), 1869–1889. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2020.1839504
- Fearnley, M. R., & Amora, J. (2020). Learning Management System Adoption in Higher
 Education Using the Extended Technology Acceptance Model Volume 8 Issue 2 IAFOR
 Journal of Education: Technology in Education Volume 8 Issue 2 IAFOR Journal of
 Education: Technology in Education Volume. *IAFOR Journal of Education: Technology in Education Volume*. *IAFOR Journal of Education: Technology in Education Volume*.
- Flink, P. J. (2018). Latinos and Higher Education: A Literature Review. *Journal of Hispanic Higher Education*, *17*(4), 402–414. https://doi.org/10.1177/1538192717705701
- Flowerdew, J. (2016). English for Specific Academic Purposes (ESAP) Writing. *Writing & Pedagogy*, *8*(1), 5–32. https://doi.org/10.1558/wap.v8i1.30051

- Foomani, E. M., & Hedayati, M. (2016). A Seamless Learning Design for Mobile Assisted Language Learning: An Iranian Context. *English Language Teaching*, 9(5), 206. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v9n5p206
- Fouz-González, J. (2017). Pronunciation instruction through Twitter: the case of commonly mispronounced words. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 30(7), 631–663. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2017.1340309
- Galante, A. (2015). Developing EAL Learners' Intercultural Sensitivity Through a Digital Literacy Project. *TESL Canada Journal*, *32*(1), 53. https://doi.org/10.18806/tesl.v32i1.1199
- Gangaiamaran, R., & Pasupathi, M. (2017). Review on use of mobile apps for language
 learning. *International Journal of Applied Engineering Research*, *12*(21), 11242–11251.
 https://www.ripublication.com/ijaer17/ijaerv12n21_102.pdf
- Godwin-Jones, R. (2016). Looking back and Ahead: 20 Years of Technologies for Language Learning. *Language Learning & Technology*, 20(2), 5–12. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI36882.11
- Golonka, E. M., Bowles, A. R., Frank, V. M., Richardson, D. L., & Freynik, S. (2014).
 Technologies for Foreign Language Learning: A Review of Technology Types and Their Effectiveness. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 27(1), 70–105.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2012.700315
- Hao, T., Wang, Z., & Ardasheva, Y. (2021). Technology-Assisted Vocabulary Learning for EFL
 Learners: A Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, *14*(3), 645–667. https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2021.1917028
- Harper, D. A. T., Bowles, A. R., Amer, L., Pandža, N. B., & Linck, J. A. (2021). Improving
 Outcomes for English Learners Through Technology: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Aera Open*, 7(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1177/23328584211025528
- Hayashi, P., Abib, G., & Hoppen, N. (2019). Validity in qualitative research: A processual approach. *Qualitative Report*, *24*(1), 98–112. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-

Hayes, S., Lundy, B. D., & Hallward, M. C. (2016). Conflict-Induced Migration and the Refugee
 Crisis: Global and Local Perspectives from Peacebuilding and Development. *Journal of Peacebuilding and Development*, *11*(3), 1–7.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15423166.2016.1239404

- Hazaymeh, W. (2020). EFL Students' Perceptions of Online Distance Learning for Enhancing English Language Learning During Covid-19 Pandemic. In *International Journal of Instruction* (pp. 501–518). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.29333/iji.2021.14329a
- Henderson, M., Selwyn, N., & Aston, R. (2017). What works and why? Student perceptions of 'useful' digital technology in university teaching and learning. *Studies in Higher Education*, *42*(8), 1567–1579. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2015.1007946
- Hibatullah, O. F. (2019). The Challenges of International EFL Students to Learn English in a Non-English Speaking Country. *Journal of Foreign Languange Teaching and Learning*, *4*(2), 88–105. https://doi.org/10.18196/ftl.4240
- Hirsh-Pasek, K., Zosh, J. M., Golinkoff, R. M., Gray, J. H., Robb, M. B., & Kaufman, J. (2015).
 Putting Education in "Educational" Apps: Lessons From the Science of Learning. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1177/1529100615569721*, *16*(1), 3–34.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100615569721
- Ho, W. Y. (jenifer). (2018). Mobility and language learning: A case study on the use of an online platform to learn Chinese as a foreign language. *London Review of Education*, *16*(2), 239–249. https://doi.org/10.18546/LRE.16.2.05
- Hong-Nam, K., & Leavell, A. G. (2006). Language Learning Strategy Use of ESL Students in an Intensive English Learning Context. *System*, *34*, 399–415. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2006.02.002
- Hsu, Y. C., & Ching, Y. H. (2013). Mobile app design for teaching and learning: Educators' experiences in an online graduate course. *International Review of Research in Open and*

Distance Learning, *14*(4), 117–139. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v14i4.1542

- Huang, Q. (2019). Comparing teacher's roles of F2f learning and online learning in a blended English course. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, *32*(3), 190–209. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2018.1540434
- Hughes, B., Huston, T., & Stein, J. (2010). Using Case Studies to Help Faculty Navigate Difficult Classroom Moments. *College Teaching*, 59(1), 7–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/87567555.2010.489076
- Huzairin, Putrawan, G. E., & Riadi, B. (2020). Technology and Language Learning: English as a Foreign Language Larner's use of Smartphones for Online Informal Learning in Indonesia.
 Texto Livre, *13*(3), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.35699/1983-3652.2020.24657
- Hwang, G.-J., & Fu, Q.-K. (2019). Trends in the research design and application of mobile language learning: a review of 2007–2016 publications in selected SSCI journals. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 27(4), 567–581.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2018.1486861
- Hyland, K., & Hamp-Lyons, L. (2002). EAP: Issues and Directions. *Journal of English for Academic Purposes*, *1*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1475-1585(02)00002-4
- Iberahim, A., Yunus, M. M., & Sulaiman, N. A. (2023). A Review on Technology Enhanced Language Learning (TELL). International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences. https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v13-i2/16496
- Irana, N. A., Hayati, R., & Kurniawan, D. (2021). the Relationship Between Preservice English Teachers' Perception of Watching English Video on Youtube As a Habit and Listening Skill Achievement. *The Journal of English Literacy Education: The Teaching and Learning of English as a Foreign Language*, 8(1), 15–26. https://doi.org/10.36706/jele.v8i1.14018
- Ishfaq, N., & Mengxing, H. (2022). Consumer usage behavior of internet-based services (IBS) in Pakistan during COVID-19 crisis from the perspective of technology acceptance model. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 29(57), 85632–85647.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-15868-1

- Ismiyani, N. (2021). The Future of Nonnative Teachers of English. *Edicatove: Journal of Educational Science*, *3*(6), 4532–4540. https://doi.org/10.31004/edukatif.v3i6.1243
- Ivanova, O. V. (2017). The Use of E-Portfolio to Develop English Language Learners'Autonomy and Independence. *Information Technologies and Learning Tools*, 60(4), 155–165. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.33407/itlt.v60i4.1677
- James, M. A. (2016). An Investigation of Motivation to Transfer Second Language Learning. *The Modern Language Jornal*, *96*(1), 51–69. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4781.2012.01281.x
- Janis, T. (2013). The Community College: Bridge or Roadblock to Higher Education for US Adult Immigrant English-Language Learners? *Research in Comparative and International Education*, 8(2), 149–165. https://doi.org/10.2304/rcie.2013.8.2.149
- Johnson, C., & Marsh, D. (2014). Blended Language Learning: An Effective Solution but not Without Its Challenges. *Higher Learning Research Communications*, *4*(3), 23. https://doi.org/10.18870/hlrc.v4i3.213
- Jordan, R. R. (2020). English for Academic Purposes (EAP). *Language Teaching*, 22(July 1989), 150–164. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1017/S026144480001483X
- Jusufbasic, S., & Kenan, S. (2022). Education for All: Teachers' and School Counselors' Experiences Educating Syrian Refugee Students in Turkish Public Schools. *Eğitim Bilimleri Dergisi*, 408–430. https://doi.org/10.15285/maruaebd.1016766
- Kacetl, J., & Klímová, B. (2019). Use of Smartphone Applications in English Language
 Learning—A Challenge for Foreign Language Education. In *Education Sciences* (Vol. 9, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci9030179
- Kanno, Y., & Varghese, M. M. (2010). Immigrant and Refugee ESL Students' Challenges to Accessing Four-Year College Education: From Language Policy to Educational Policy. *Journal of Language, Identity, and Education*, 9(5), 310–328.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15348458.2010.517693

- Karmelita, C. E. (2018). Exploring the Experiences of Adult Learners in a Transition Program. Journal of Adult and Continuing Education, 24(2), 141–164. https://doi.org/10.1177/1477971418791587
- Kasworm, C. E. (2018). Adult Students: A Confusing World in Undergraduate Higher Education. Journal of Continuing Higher Education, 66(2), 77–87. https://doi.org/10.1080/07377363.2018.1469077
- Kaufman, D., Murphy-Bollinger, J., Scott, J. A., & Hudson, K. (2009). Public Opinion About the Importance of Privacy in Biobank Research. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, *85*(5), 643–654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2009.10.002
- Kember, D. (1997). A Reconceptualisation of the Research into University Academics' Conceptions of Teaching. *Learning and Instruction*, 7(3), 255–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4752(96)00028-X
- Kemp, A., Palmer, E., & Strelan, P. (2019). A taxonomy of factors affecting attitudes towards educational technologies for use with technology acceptance models. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *50*(5), 2394–2413. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12833
- Kessler, G. (2018). Technology and the future of language teaching. *Foreign Language Annals*, *51*(1), 205–218. https://doi.org/10.1111/flan.12318
- Khanlari, A., Resendes, M., Zhu, G., & Scardamalia, M. (2017). *Productive Knowledge Building Discourse Through Student- Generated Questions Results Sustainability of threads*. 585–588.
- Khong, T. D. H., & Saito, E. (2014). Challenges confronting teachers of English language learners. In *Educational Review*. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2013.769425
- King, W. R., & He, J. (2006). A Meta-Analysis of the Technology Acceptance Model. *Information* and Management, 43(6), 740–755. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2006.05.003

Kisiara, O. (2021). Motivations of Refugee-Background Adults in Enrolling in English Language

Classes in the United States. *Adult Learning*, *32*(3), 115–124. https://doi.org/10.1177/1045159520969859

- Köhler, T., Smith, A., & Bhakoo, V. (2019). Feature Topic for ORM : "Templates in Qualitative Research Methods". Organizational Research Methods, 22(1), 3–5.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428118805165
- Kurdi, B. Al, Alshurideh, M., & Salloum, S. A. (2020). Investigating a theoretical framework for elearning technology acceptance. *International Journal of Electrical and Computer Engineering*, *10*(6), 6484–6496. https://doi.org/10.11591/IJECE.V10I6.PP6484-6496
- Lai, C. (2015). Modeling Teachers' Influence on Learners' Self-directed Use of Technology for Language Learning Outside the Classroom. *Computers and Education*, 82, 74–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2014.11.005
- Lai, C., Yeung, Y., & Hu, J. (2016). University Student and Teacher Perceptions of Teacher Roles in Promoting Autonomous Language Learning with Technology Outside the Classroom. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, *29*(4), 703–723. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2015.1016441
- Lai, C., & Zheng, D. (2018). Self-directed use of mobile devices for language learning beyond the classroom. *ReCALL*, *30*(3), 299–318. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0958344017000258
- Lawrence, G., Ahmed, F., Cole, C. J., & Johnston, K. P. (2020). Not More Technology but More Effective Technology: Examining the State of Technology Integration in EAP Programmes. *Relc Journal*, *51*(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/0033688220907199

Lederer, A. M., Hoban, M. T., Lipson, S. K., Zhou, S., & Eisenberg, D. (2021). More Than Inconvenienced: The Unique Needs of U.S. College Students During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Health Education and Behavior*, *48*(1), 14–19. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198120969372

Lee, H., Hampel, R., & Kukulska-Hulme, A. (2019). Gesture in speaking tasks beyond the classroom: An exploration of the multimodal negotiation of meaning via Skype

videoconferencing on mobile devices. *System*, *81*, 26–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.12.013

- Lee, J., & Rice, C. (2007). Welcome to America? International student perceptions of discrimination. *Higher Education*, *53*(3), 381–409. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-005-4508-3
- Lee, M.-H., Liu, C. S., Zhu, Y., Kaeser, G. E., Rivera, R., Romanow, W. J., Kihara, Y., & Chun, J. (2019). *Reply: Evidence That <i>APP</I> Gene Copy Number Changes Reflect Recombinant Vector Contamination*. https://doi.org/10.1101/730291
- Lee, S., Kuo, L. J., Xu, Z., & Hu, X. (2022). The effects of technology-integrated classroom instruction on K-12 English language learners' literacy development: a meta-analysis. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, *35*(5–6), 1106–1137. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2020.1774612
- Lee, V. (2021). A Platform for Developing Student Competence: A Look at the Online Korean Classroom. *Bulletin of the Transilvania University of Braşov Series Iv Philology Cultural Studies*, *14*(63)(1), 37–46. https://doi.org/10.31926/but.pcs.2021.63.14.1.3
- Lee, Y., Kozar, K. A., Larsen, K. R. T., Lee, Y., Kozar, K. A., & Larsen, K. R. T. (2003).
 Communications of the Association for Information Systems The Technology Acceptance Model: Past, Present, and Future The Technology Acceptance Model: Past, Present, and Future THE TECHNOLOGY ACCEPTANCE MODEL: PAST, PRESENT, AND FUTURE. *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*, *12*(50), 752–780. http://aisel.aisnet.org/cais/vol12/iss1/50
- Lei, J. (2010). Quantity versus quality: A new approach to examine the relationship between technology use and student outcomes. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *41*(3), 455–472. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8535.2009.00961.x
- Li, Y., Guo, A., Chin, C. L., & Lim, J.-H. (2016). A platform for creating Smartphone apps to enhance Chinese learning using augmented reality. *Scientific Phone Apps and Mobile*

Devices, 2(1), 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41070-016-0007-4

- Lin, C. C., & Yu, Y. C. (2017). Effects of presentation modes on mobile-assisted vocabulary learning and cognitive load. *Interactive Learning Environments*, *25*(4), 528–542. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2016.1155160
- Lin, J. J., & Lin, H. (2019). Mobile-assisted ESL/EFL vocabulary learning: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 32(8), 878–919. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2018.1541359
- Linh, V. T., & Vu, N. N. (2021). The Impact of Mobile Learning on EFL Students' Learning Behaviors and Perceptions: From Content Delivery to Blended Interaction. *International Research in Higher Education*, *5*(4), 25. https://doi.org/10.5430/irhe.v5n4p25
- Liu, P.-L., & Chen, C.-J. (2015). Learning English through actions: a study of mobile-assisted language learning. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 23(2), 158–171. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2014.959976
- Liu, P. H. E., & Tsai, M. K. (2013). Using augmented-reality-based mobile learning material in EFL English composition: An exploratory case study. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 44(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8535.2012.01302.x
- Ly, T., Duong, N., Huyen, N., & Nguyen, U. (2021). The Challenges of E-learning Through Microsoft Teams for EFL Students at Van Lang University in COVID-19. *AsiaCaLL Online Journal*, *12*(4), 18–29. https://asiacall.info/acoj
- Lyu, D., & Wang, B. (2018). Effects of the Application of Computer Network Technology to Guided Discovery Teaching on Learning Achievement and Outcome. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics Science and Technology Education*, *14*(7), 3269–3276. https://doi.org/10.29333/ejmste/91249
- MacKenzie, S. B., Podsakoff, P. M., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2011). Construct Measurement and Validation Procedures in MIS and Behavioral Research: Integrating New and Existing Techniques. *MIS Quarterly*, *35*(2), 293–334. https://doi.org/10.2307/23044045

 Mahan, J. D., & Stein, D. S. (2014). Teaching Adults—Best Practices That Leverage the Emerging Understanding of the Neurobiology of Learning. *Current Problems in Pediatric* and Adolescent Health Care, 44(6), 141–149. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cppeds.2014.01.003

- Maican, M.-A., & Cocoradă, E. (2021). Online Foreign Language Learning in Higher Education and Its Correlates during the COVID-19 Pandemic. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13020781
- Mandernach, B. J., Mason, T., Forrest, K. D., & Hackathorn, J. (2012). Faculty Views on the Appropriateness of Teaching Undergraduate Psychology Courses Online. *Teaching of Psychology*, 39(3), 203–208. https://doi.org/10.1177/0098628312450437
- Marangunić, N., & Granić, A. (2015). Technology Acceptance Model: a Literature Review from 1986 to 2013. Universal Access in the Information Society, 14(1), 81–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10209-014-0348-1
- McDonough, D. (2014). Providing deep learning through active engagement of adult learners in blended courses. *Journal of Learning in Higher Education*, *10*(1), 9–16. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1143328.pdf
- McNeil, L. (2018). Introducing teachers to digital game-enhanced pedagogy: Successes and challenges in a graduate course. *TESOL J*, *9*(3), 580–584. https://doi.org/10.1002/tesj.383
- Meltzer, L. J., Saletin, J. M., Honaker, S. M., Owens, J. A., Seixas, A., Wahlstrom, K. L.,
 Wolfson, A. R., Wong, P., & Carskadon, M. A. (2021). COVID-19 instructional approaches (in-person, online, hybrid), school start times, and sleep in over 5,000 U.S. adolescents. *Sleep*, 44(12), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1093/sleep/zsab180
- Meniado, J. C. (2022). Technology in English Language Teaching and Learning: An Interview With Professor Greg Kessler. *Relc Journal*, 53(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/00336882221081892
- Merriam, S. B. (2001). Andragogy and Self-Directed Learning: Pillars of Adult Learning Theory -Merriam - 2002 - New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education - Wiley Online Library.

Androgogy and Self-Directed Learning, 2001(89), 3–14. https://doi.org/10.1002/ace.3

- Merrill, B. (2014). Determined to stay or determined to leave? A tale of learner identities, biographies and adult students in higher education. *Studies in Higher Education*, *40*(10), 1859–1871. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2014.914918
- Miarsyah, M., Komala, R., & Riska, R. (2020). The effect of team based learning model on students' critical thinking skills in ecosystem. *Universal Journal of Educational Research*, 8(4A), 75–80. https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2020.081811
- Mohialdin, S. N. (2021). Review on the Positive and Negative Impact of Covid-19 Pandemic on Environment and Society. *European Journal of Medicine and Natural Sciences*, *4*(2 SE-Articles), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.26417/573vge34v
- Mulyawan, U., & Resmayani, N. N. P. A. (2022). The Use of Mobile Assisted Language Learning (MALL) in English Teaching for Hospitality Vocational Students. *Journal of Teaching English and Applied Linguistic*, 1(1), 08–16. https://doi.org/10.56517/jteal.v1i1.2
- Mweshi, G. K., & Sakyi, K. (2020). Application of sampling methods for the research design. *Archives of Business Research*, *8*(11), 180–193. https://doi.org/10.14738/abr.811.9042
- Nalliveettil, G. M., & Alenazi, T. H. K. (2016). The Impact of Mobile Phones on English Language Learning : Perceptions of EFL Undergraduates. *Journal of Language Teaching and Research*, 7(2), 264–272. https://doi.org/10.1080/19397030902947041
- Namaziandost, E., Ziafar, M., & Dwiniasih, D. (2020). Formulaic Language of Tourism in English for Academic Purpose (Eap) Course Book: A Corpus-Driven Approach. *Academic Journal Perspective Education Language and Literature*, *81*(1), 1–10.

https://doi.org/10.33603/perspective.v8i1.3285

Nurfatihah, R., Nahadi, N., & Firman, H. (2021). Development of Chemistry Tests for Students' on Reaction Rate Subject Matter Based on Critical Thinking Skills Using Framework DOT Test. *Journal of Educational Sciences*, *5*(4), 702–711. https://doi.org/10.31258/jes.5.4.p.702-711

- Olaniy, A. A. (2019). Application of Likert scale's type and Cronbach's alpha analysis in an airport perception study. *Scholar Journal of Applied Sciences and Research*, *2*(4), 1–5. http://innovationinfo.org/articles/SJASR/SJASR-4-223.pdf
- Oliveira, G., Grenha Teixeira, J., Torres, A., & Morais, C. (2021). An exploratory study on the emergency remote education experience of higher education students and teachers during the COVID-19 pandemic. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 52(4), 1357–1376. https://doi.org/10.1111/BJET.13112
- Oral, O., & Gök, V. (2021). Development and Efficiency of Smart Mobile Device Application:
 Example of Heat and Temperature Instruction. *International Journal of Engineering and Innovative Research*, 3(3), 209–221. https://doi.org/10.47933/ijeir.902543
- Oz, H. (2015). An investigation of preservice english teachers' perceptions of mobile assisted language learning. *English Language Teaching*, *8*(2), 22–34. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v8n2p22
- Ozverir, I., Herrington, J., & Osam, U. V. (2016). Design Principles for Authentic Learning of English as a Foreign Language. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *47*(3), 484– 493. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12449
- Pal, D., & Vanijja, V. (2020). Perceived usability evaluation of Microsoft Teams as an online learning platform during COVID-19 using system usability scale and technology acceptance model in India. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *119*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105535
- Papademetriou, C., Anastasiadou, S., Konteos, G., & Papalexandris, S. (2022). COVID-19
 Pandemic: The Impact of the Social Media Technology on Higher Education. *Education Sciences*, *12*(261), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci12040261
- Papert, S., & Harel, I. (1991). Situating instructionism. *Constructionism*, 36, 1–11.
- Parmaxi, A. (2023). Virtual reality in language learning: a systematic review and implications for research and practice. *Interactive Learning Environments*, *31*(1), 172–184.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2020.1765392

- Pascual, P.-P., Guillamón, C. O., & Jiménez, P. A. (2018). Language teachers' Perceptions on the Use of OER Language Processing Technologies in MALL. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, *31*(5–6), 522–545. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2017.1418754
- Patten, B., Arnedillo Sánchez, I., & Tangney, B. (2006). Designing collaborative, constructionist and contextual applications for handheld devices. *Comput. Educ.*, 46(3), 294–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2005.11.011
- Păun, E., & Sava, S.-L. (2019). The Reflective Dimension of Learning in Adulthood. *Journal of Educational Sciences*, *1*(39). https://doi.org/10.35923/jes.2019.1.04
- Peacock, M. (1997). The Effect of Authentic Aaterials on the Motivation of EFL Learners. *ELT Journal*, *51*(2), 144–156. https://doi.org/10.1093/elt/51.2.144
- Peri, G., & Rutledge, Z. (2022). Economic Assimilation of Mexicans and Central Americans in the United States. *IZA Journal of Development and Migration*, *13*(1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.2478/izajodm-2022-0003
- Perienen, A. (2020). Frameworks for ICT Integration in Mathematics Education A Teacher's
 Perspective. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education*, *16*(6),
 1–12. https://doi.org/10.29333/EJMSTE/7803
- Pertiwi, W. A., Taufiq, A., Meganingtyas, D. E. W., & Meiningdias, C. Y. (2022). Student
 Perspectives on Using Microsoft Teams as an Alternative to the Implementation of Science
 Practicum. *Journal of Physics Conference Series*, 2377, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/2377/1/012083
- Pokhrel, S., & Chhetri, R. (2021). A Literature Review on Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Teaching and Learning. *Higher Education for the Future*, *8*(1), 133–141. https://doi.org/10.1177/2347631120983481
- Porter, C. E., & Donthu, N. (2006). Using the technology acceptance model to explain how attitudes determine Internet usage: The role of perceived access barriers and

demographics. *Journal of Business Research*, *59*(9), 999–1007. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2006.06.003

- Qi, S. (2019). Conspiring to Change the Learning Environment for Adult Learners in Higher Education. *Adult Learning*, *30*(2), 89–90. https://doi.org/10.1177/1045159519834959
- Rababah, L. (2020). Jadara University Students' Attitudes towards the Use of Microsoft Teams
 in Learning English as a Foreign Language. *Studies in Linguistics and Literature*, *4*(4), p59.
 https://doi.org/10.22158/sll.v4n4p59
- Rachelinda, K. S., Anwar, K., & Ma'rifah, U. (2021). The Effectiveness of Using Microsoft Teams in Student's Speaking Performance During Pandemic COVID-19 Outbreak. *Journal Universitas Muhammadiyah Gresik Engineering, Social Science, and Health International Conference (UMGESHIC)*, 1(2), 752–760.

https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.30587/umgeshic.v1i2.3449

- Rahiem, M. D. H. (2020). Technological Barriers and Challenges in the Use of ICT During the COVID-19 Emergency Remote Learning. *Universal Journal of Educational Research*, 8(11B), 6124–6133. https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2020.082248
- Rahimi, M., & Miri, S. S. (2014). The Impact of Mobile Dictionary Use on Language Learning. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 98, 1469–1474. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.03.567
- Ravichandran, S., Kretovics, M., Kirby, K., & Ghosh, A. (2017). Strategies to address English language writing challenges faced by international graduate students in the US. *Journal of International Students*, 7(3), 764–785. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.570033
- Razkane, H., Sayeh, A. Y., & Yeou, M. (2021). University Teachers' Attitudes Towards Distance Learning During COVID-19 Pandemic: Hurdles, Challenges, and Take-Away Lessons.
 European Journal of Interactive Multimedia and Education, *3*(1), 2–8.
 https://doi.org/10.30935/ejimed/11436

Richards, J. C. (2015). The Changing Face of Language Learning: Learning Beyond the

Classroom. RELC Journal, 46(1), 5-22. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033688214561621

- Robertson, D. (2000). Variability in the Use of the English Article System by Chinese Learners of English. Second Language Research, 16(2), 135–172. https://doi.org/10.1191/026765800672262975
- Roe, L. (2022). Applying andragogy to service-learning in graduate education: An interpretive phenomenological analysis. *Journal of Adult and Continuing Education*, *29*(1), 147–169. https://doi.org/10.1177/14779714221079368
- Ruiz-Ariza, A., Casuso, R. A., Suarez-Manzano, S., & Martínez-López, E. J. (2018). Effect of augmented reality game Pokémon GO on cognitive performance and emotional intelligence in adolescent young. *Computers and Education*, *116*, 49–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2017.09.002
- Sabboor Hussain, M., Salam, A., & Farid, A. (2020). Students' Motivation in English Language Learning (ELL): An Exploratory Study of Motivation-al Factors for EFL and ESL Adult Learners. *International Journal of Applied Linguistics and English Literature*, *9*(4), 15. https://doi.org/10.7575/aiac.ijalel.v.9n.4p.15
- Saidouni, K., & Bahloul, A. (2015). Teacher and Students' Atritudes Towards, Using Mobile-Assisted Langauge Learning in Higher Educaton. *Arab World English Journal*, *2*, 81–90.
- Saidouni, K., & Bahloul, A. (2017). Teachers and Studentss Attitudes Towards Using Mobile-Assisted Language Learning In Higher Education. *SSRN Electronic Journal*, *3*, 123–140. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2822983
- Salloum, S. A., Qasim Mohammad Alhamad, A., Al-Emran, M., Abdel Monem, A., & Shaalan, K. (2019). Exploring Students' Acceptance of E-Learning Through the Development of a Comprehensive Technology Acceptance model. *IEEE Access*, *7*, 128445–128462. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2939467
- Samuel Finch, K., Manas Kala, S., & Sathya, V. (2021). The Review of Mobile Applications and Wireless Technologies in Sustaining K-12 Schools during COVID-19. *EAI Endorsed*

Transactions on Mobile Communications and Applications, *6*(18 SE-Research article), e1. https://doi.org/10.4108/eai.29-1-2021.168509

- Sandberg, J., Maris, M., & De Geus, K. (2011). Mobile English learning: An evidence-based study with fifth graders. *Computers and Education*, 57(1), 1334–1347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2011.01.015
- Saran, M., Seferoglu, G., & Cagiltay, K. (2009). Mobile assisted language learning: English pronunciation at learners' fingertips. *Egitim Arastirmalari Eurasian Journal of Educational Research*, *34*, 97–114.
- Schoenfeld, B., Zeid, S., & Liberman, I. (2020). Decision-Making between Online and Frontal EFL Courses. *European Journal of Teaching and Education*, *2*(2), 1–9.
- Schulze, M., & Scholz, K. (2018). Learning Trajectories and the Role of Online Courses in a Language Program. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, *31*(3), 185–205. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2017.1360362
- Segaran, K., Ali, A. Z. M., & Hoe, T. W. (2014). Usability and User Satisfaction of 3D Talkinghead Mobile Assisted Language Learning (MALL) App for Non-native Speakers. *Procedia -Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *131*, 4–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.04.069
- Sert, N., & Boynuegri, E. (2017). Digital technology use by the students and english teachers and self-directed language learning. *World Journal on Educational Technology: Current Issues*, 9(1), 24–34. www.wj-et.eu
- Severinsen, D., Kennedy, L., & Mohamud, S. (2018). Teaching Strategies That Motivate English Language Adult Literacy Learners to Invest in Their Education: A Literature Review. *Literacy and Numeracy Studies*, 26(1), 25–42. https://doi.org/10.5130/lns.v26i1.6260
- Shadiev, R., Hwang, W., Huang, Y., & Liu, T. (2015). The Impact of Supported and Annotated
 Mobile Learning on Achievement and Co...: Masarykovy univerzity. *Educational Technology & Society*, *18*(4), 53–69.

http://eds.b.ebscohost.com/eds/detail/detail?vid=3&sid=72e31a6e-9772-4861-804f-

ed9c28ea215a@sessionmgr115&hid=113&bdata=JkF1dGhUeXBIPWIwLGNvb2tpZSx1aW QmbGFuZz1jcyZzaXRIPWVkcy1saXZIJnNjb3BIPXNpdGU=#AN=110247503&db=a9h

- Shadiev, R., & Yang, M. (2020). Review of Studies on Technology-Enhanced Language Learning and Teaching. Sustainability (Switzerland), 12(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/su12020524
- Shah, V., & Shah, A. (2018). Relationship Between Student Perception of School Worthiness and Demographic Factors. *Frontiers in Education*, 3(June), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2018.00045
- Shin, D., Kwon, S. K., & Lee, Y. (2021). The effect of using online language-support resources on L2 writing performance. *Language Testing in Asia*, *11*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40468-021-00119-4
- Singh Sidhu, M., Sidhu, S., & Geak Ying, J. (2017). Experiencing new Learning, Interaction and Visualization Process using Augmented Reality Technology. *TEM Journal Journal*, 6(2), 222–231. https://doi.org/10.18421/TEM62-05
- Spector-Cohen, E., Kirschner, M., & Wexler, C. (2001). Designing EAP Reading Courses at the University Level. *English for Specific Purposes*, *20*, 367–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0889-4906(00)00019-3
- Spencer, D., & Temple, T. (2021). Examining Students' Online Course Perceptions and Comparing Student Performance Outcomes in Online and Face-to-Face Classrooms. *Online Learning*, 25(2). https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v25i2.2227

Starbird, S. A., Martin, J. M., & Kalbas-Schmidt, T. A. (2022). The Impact of Language and Location on the Curriculum Preferences of Online Entrepreneurship Students: An Application of Google Analytics. *Education Sciences*, *12*(2), 80. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci12020080

Su, F., & Zou, D. (2022). Technology-enhanced collaborative language learning: theoretical foundations, technologies, and implications. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 35(8),

1754–1788. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2020.1831545

- Sun, S. Y. H. (2014). Learner Perspectives on Fully Online Language Learning. *Distance Education*, *35*(1), 18–42. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2014.891428
- Surucu, L., & Maslakci, A. (2020). Business & Management Studies : Business & Management Studies: An International Journal, 8(3), 2694–2726. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.15295/bmij.v8i3.1540
- Svendsen, G. B., Johnsen, J. A. K., Almås-Sørensen, L., & Vittersø, J. (2013). Personality and technology acceptance: The influence of personality factors on the core constructs of the Technology Acceptance Model. *Behaviour and Information Technology*, *32*(4), 323–334. https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929X.2011.553740
- Tanaka, H., Yonesaka, S. M., & Ueno, Y. (2015). An e-portfolio to enhance sustainable vocabulary. *The Eurocall Review*, 23(1), 0–9. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.4995/eurocall.2015.4663
- Tang, G. (1992). The Effect of Graphic Representation Of Knowledge Structures on ESL
 Reading Comprehension. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition*, *14*(2), 177–195.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/S0272263100010810
- Tao, D., Li, W., Qin, M., & Cheng, M. (2022). Understanding Students' Acceptance and Usage Behaviors of Online Learning in Mandatory Contexts: A Three-Wave Longitudinal Study During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Sustainability*, *14*(13), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14137830
- Tayan, B. M. (2017). Students and Teachers' Perceptions into the Viability of Mobile
 Technology Implementation to Support Language Learning for First Year Business
 Students in a Middle Eastern University. *International Journal of Education and Literacy Studies*, *5*(2), 74–83. https://doi.org/10.7575/aiac.ijels.v.5n.2p.74
- Taylor, R. (1990). Interpretation of the Correlation Coefficient: A Basic Review. *Journal of Diagnistic Medical Sonography*, *6*(1), 35–39.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1177/875647939000600106

- Ten Have, N. J., Jimenez, K. J., Attilus, J., Livaudais, M. B., & Mengistu, B. S. (2023). COVID-19 and Protracted Displacement: A Scoping Review of Migration Policies in Mexico and Central America. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, *24*(4), 1835–1863. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12134-023-01040-w
- Thembane, N. E. (2022). Work-Integrated Learning in Medical Laboratory Science and Medical Technology During COVID-19. *Scholarship of Teaching and Learning in the South*, *6*(3), 162–174. https://doi.org/10.36615/sotls.v6i3.261
- Thomas, G., & Thorpe, S. (2019). Enhancing the Facilitation of Online Groups in Higher
 Education: A Review of the Literature on Face-To-Face and Online Group-Facilitation. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 27(1), 62–71.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2018.1451897
- Todd, R. W. (2003). EAP or TEAP? Journal of English for Academic Purposes, 2(2), 147–156.
- Torff, B., & Murphy, A. F. (2020). Teachers' beliefs about English learners: Adding linguistic support to enhance academic rigor. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 101(5), 14–18. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031721720903822
- Tra, P. T. T. (2020). Mobile-Assisted Language Learning in a University Context in Vietnam: Students' Attitudes. *Vnu Journal of Foreign Studies*, *36*(1), 103–116. https://doi.org/10.25073/2525-2445/vnufs.4502
- Ullman, C. (2010). The Connections among Immigration, Nation Building and Adult Education
 English as a Second Language Instruction in the United States. *Adult Learning*, *21*(1–2),
 4–8. https://doi.org/10.1177/104515951002100101
- Usman, B., Hashim, S. bn, Lamptey, J., Ali, A. B., Suleiman, W., & Bilyaminu, A. Y. (2020).
 Innovativeness Orientation Behaviors and Delinquent Behavioral Change: A Case Study of
 Ex-Juvenile Entrepreneurial Orientation in Katsina State, Nigeria. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, *10*(6), 718–738.

https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v10-i6/7369

Venkatesh, Viswanath, Morris, M. G., Davis, G. B., & Davis, F. D. (2003). User acceptance of information technology: Toward a unified view. *MIS Quarterly: Management Information Systems*, 27(3), 425–478. https://doi.org/10.2307/30036540

Venkatesh, Vivek, Croteau, A. M., & Rabah, J. (2014). Perceptions of effectiveness of instructional uses of technology in higher education in an era of web 2.0. *Proceedings of the Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, 110–119. https://doi.org/10.1109/HICSS.2014.22

- Vu, T., Yen, M., Tran, N., & Nhi, U. (2021). The Practice of Online English Teaching and Learning with Microsoft Teams: From Students' View. *AsiaCALL Online Journal*, *12*(2), 51– 57. https://asiacall.info/acoj/index.php/journal/article/view/41
- Wallwork, A. (2016). What Is EAP / Scientific English? What Do I Need to Do to Prepare Myself to Teach Scientific English? In A. Wallwork (Ed.), *English for Academic Research: A Guide for Teachers* (pp. 3–13). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-32687-0_1
- Wang, N., Chen, J., Tai, M., & Zhang, J. (2019). Blended learning for Chinese university EFL learners: learning environment and learner perceptions. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 0(0), 1–27. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2019.1607881
- Wen, J., Wei, X., He, T., & Zhang, S. (2020). Regression analysis on the influencing factors of the acceptance of online education platform among college students. *Ingenierie Des Systemes d'Information*, 25(5), 595–600. https://doi.org/10.18280/ISI.250506
- Wichadee, S. (2017). A development of the blended learning model using edmodo for maximizing students' oral proficiency and motivation. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning*, 12(2), 137–154. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet. v12i02.6324
- Wiest, M., Kutscher, T., Willeke, J., Merkel, J., Hoffmann, M., Kaufmann-Kuchta, K., & Widany, S. (2019). The Potential of Statistical Matching for the Analysis of Wider Benefits of

Learning in Later Life. *European Journal for Research on the Education and Learning of Adults*, *10*(3), 291–306. https://doi.org/10.3384/rela.2000-7426.rela201910

- Wilson, K. (2016). Critical reading, critical thinking: Delicate scaffolding in English for Academic Purposes (EAP). *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 22, 256–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2016.10.002
- Wong, L.-H., Hsu, C.-K., Sun, J., & Boticki, I. (2013). How Flexible Grouping Affects the Collaborative Patterns in a Mobile-Assisted Chinese Character Learning Game?
 Educational Technology & Society, *16*(2), 174–187. http://www.ifets.info/
- Wu, Q. (2014). Learning ESL Vocabulary with Smartphones. Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 143, 302–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.07.409
- Wu, T.-T., & Huang, Y.-M. (n.d.). A Mobile Game-Based English Vocabulary Practice System
 Based on Portfolio Analysis. All Papers/W/Wu and Huang A Mobile Game-Based English
 Vocabulary Practice System Based on Portfolio Analysis.pdf
- Wu, T.-T., & Huang, Y.-M. (2017). A Mobile Game-Based English Vocabulary Practice System
 Based on Portfolio Analysis. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, *20*(2), 265–277.
 https://search.proquest.com/docview/1902838423?accountid=17242
- Wu, T. T. (2018). Improving the effectiveness of English vocabulary review by integrating ARCS with mobile game-based learning. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, *34*(3), 315–323. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12244
- Xin, C., Ding, N., Jiang, N., Li, H., & Wen, D. (2022). Exploring the connection between parental bonding and smartphone addiction in Chinese medical students. *BMC Psychiatry*, 22(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-022-04355-7
- Yadav, M. S. (2020). Role of Social Media in English Language Learning to the Adult Learners.
 International Journal of Linguistics, Literature and Translation (IJLLT), *4*(1), 238–247.
 https://doi.org/10.32996/ijllt

Yaghjian, L. B. (2018). Pedagogical Challenges in Teaching ESOL/Multilingual Writers in

Theological Education. *Teaching Theology & Religion*, *21*(3), 162–176. https://doi.org/10.1111/teth.12438

- Yang, Y., & Wang, X. (2019). Modeling the intention to use machine translation for student translators: An extension of Technology Acceptance Model. *Computers and Education*, *133*(August 2018), 116–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2019.01.015
- Yiting, N., Tang, J., Prihandini, R. M., & Aripin, U. (2022). Modeling Conic Section Using
 Hawgent Dynamic Mathematics Software. *Arithmetic Academic Journal of Math*, *4*(1), 61–
 78. https://doi.org/10.29240/ja.v4i1.4320
- Zafari, M., Bazargani, J. S., Sadeghi-Niaraki, A., & Choi, S. M. (2022). Artificial Intelligence
 Applications in K-12 Education: A Systematic Literature Review. *IEEE Access*, *10*, 61905–61921. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2022.3179356
- Zanca, C. (2019). Language Centres, Online Authentic Materials and Learners' Needs: Improving Autonomy and Discovery in Language Learning. *Linguæ & - Rivista Di Lingue e Culture Moderne Journal of Modern Language and Cultures*}, *18*(1), 35–56. https://doi.org/10.7358/ling-2019-001-zanc
- Zhang, C. (2020). From Face-to-Face to Screen-to-Screen: CFL Teachers' Beliefs about Digital Teaching Competence during the Pandemic. *International Journal of Chinese Language Teaching*, 1(1), 35–52. https://doi.org/10.46451/ijclt.2020.06.03
- Zhang, R., & Zou, D. (2020). Types , purposes , and effectiveness of state-of-the- art technologies for second and foreign language learning. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 0(0), 1–47. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2020.1744666
- Zhang, Z., Cao, T., Shu, J., & Liu, H. (2022). Identifying key factors affecting college students' adoption of the e-learning system in mandatory blended learning environments. *Interactive Learning Environments*, *30*(8), 1388–1401.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2020.1723113

Zielinski, D. E. (2017). The Use of Collaboration, Authentic Learning, Linking Material to

Personal Knowledge, and Technology in the Constructivist Classroom: Interviews with Community College Faculty Members. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, *41*(10), 668–686. https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2016.1220338

Zhang, Y., & Lin, C. H. (2020). Motivational profiles and their correlates among students in virtual school foreign language courses. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *51*(2), 515-530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12871</u>

APPENDIX A

Survey

Gender:

Age:

Experience in using Microsoft Teams: (Excellent-Very Good-Good-Fair-Poor, scale from 5-1)

Perceived usefulness (strongly agree-agree-neutral-disagree-strongly disagree, scale from

5-1)

1. Teams helps me to learn more efficiently.

2. Teams improves my academic performance.

3. Using Teams to learn English is helpful.

4. The audio sound and the camera in Teams add to the authenticity of learning.

5. Teams makes English easier to learn at the university.

6. Teams gives me more control over my learning.

7. Teams is advantageous for learning English.

Actual use of Teams (strongly agree-agree-neutral-disagree-strongly disagree, scale from 5-

1)

1.I believe that Teams helps me cooperate with classmates.

2.I believe that assignments help me improve my English performance.

3.I believe that a discussion forum helps me improve my English performance.

Perceived ease of use (strongly agree-agree-neutral-disagree-strongly disagree, scale from

5-1)

1.Learning to use Teams is easy for me.

2.Log in and out of Teams is fast and clear.

3.It is easy to get materials from Teams.

4. Overall, I believe that Teams is easy to use.

5.Learning on Teams is fun.

6.Using Teams for learning is a good idea.

- 7. Teams is an attractive way to learn.
- 8.1 like using Teams for learning.

Behavioral Intention of English through using Teams (strongly agree-agree-neutral-

disagree-strongly disagree, scale from 5-1)

- 1.believe Teams is useful for me as a student.
- 2. Teams helps me improve my English skills.

3.I feel comfortable using Teams to improve my English.

- 4. Teams materials are useful to me for learning English.
- 5.1 think Teams should be used in English classes in the future.

APPENDIX B

Informed Consent Letter

IRB number:18-12-941

Study Title: Purposeful Technology Implementation for Adult English Learners

Dear Participant,

My name is Mandy Chien. I am conducting this study in partial fulfillment of my doctoral dissertation at Pepperdine University. The purpose of this research is to investigate the correlation between the elements of the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) and the use of Microsoft Teams by adult learners in a virtual English as a Second Language course If you are 19 years of age or older and are using or used Microsoft Teams for your English as a second language classes either for your GED or college courses, you may participate in this research.

This form is part of a process called "informed consent" to allow you to understand this study before deciding to take part. If you agree to participate in this study, you will receive an email with the survey link to a surveymonkey.com. Please complete that survey that contains questions regarding technology use. The survey is expected to take approximately 20-30 minutes. Please use a password protected computer to answer the survey online. For this survey, you will only need to rank the response from 1to 5 based on questions.

Your participation is entirely voluntary. You do not need to answer every question in the survey and you may choose to stop the survey at any time. The survey is anonymous, which means we will not ask for your name so no one knows who did the survey. Your responses will be kept confidential and only for this study. The risks of participation are minimal and may include time spent in responding to survey on the computer screen might cause eye strain or headaches. Some questions might make you feel uneasy or distressed when responding to sensitive or personal questions.

The benefit of participating in the study is your contribution might help educators to understand the relationship between technology and the actual use of technology from adult English learners.

There is no compensation for participation in this study.

If you have any questions concerning the research study, please email me at

email

For questions concerning your rights or complaints about the research contact the Institutional Review Board (IRB):

• Phone: 1(310)568-2305

• Email: <u>gpsirb@pepperdine.edu</u>

You are voluntarily making a decision whether or not to participate in this research study. By clicking on the I Agree button below, your consent to participate is implied. You should print a copy of this page for your records.

I agree

I do not agree

APPENDIX C

Recruitment letter

Dear participants,

My name is Mandy Chien, and I am a doctoral student in the Learning Technology EdD program at Pepperdine University. I am conducting a research study about English language learners who use Microsoft Teams and I need your help! I am seeking volunteer study participants to complete an online survey.

Your participation in the study is anonymous and is anticipated to take no more than 30 minutes to complete the online survey.

Participation in this study is voluntary, and your identity as a participant will be protected before, during, and after the time that study data is collected. The researcher will be the only person to see the data. When the research is done, the researcher will safely dispose of the data by shredding paper or erasing digital storage devices if there is any.

To participant in this study, click this link:

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at your earliest convenience.

Thank you for your participation,

Mandy Chien Pepperdine University Graduate School of Education and Psychology Doctoral student of Learning Technology Email: <u>email</u>

Phone: phone

APPENDIX D

eProtocol

Address

Phone

NOTICE OF APPROVAL FOR HUMAN RESEARCH

Date: August 15, 2023

Protocol Investigator Name: Mandy Fiola

Protocol #: 18-12-941

Project Title: Perceptions of Classroom Technology Use Among Adult English Learners

School: Graduate School of Education and Psychology

Dear Mandy Fiola:

Thank you for submitting your application for exempt review to Pepperdine University's Institutional Review Board (IRB). We appreciate the work you have done on your proposal. The IRB has reviewed your submitted IRB application and all ancillary materials. Upon review, the IRB has determined that the above entitled project meets the requirements for exemption under the federal regulations 45 CFR 46.101 that govern the protections of human subjects.

Your research must be conducted according to the proposal that was submitted to the IRB. If changes to the approved protocol occur, a revised protocol must be reviewed and approved by

the IRB before implementation. For any proposed changes in your research protocol, please submit an amendment to the IRB. Since your study falls under exemption, there is no requirement for continuing IRB review of your project. Please be aware that changes to your protocol may prevent the research from qualifying for exemption from 45 CFR 46.101 and require submission of a new IRB application or other materials to the IRB.

A goal of the IRB is to prevent negative occurrences during any research study. However, despite the best intent, unforeseen circumstances or events may arise during the research. If an unexpected situation or adverse event happens during your investigation, please notify the IRB as soon as possible. We will ask for a complete written explanation of the event and your written response. Other actions also may be required depending on the nature of the event. Details regarding the timeframe in which adverse events must be reported to the IRB and documenting the adverse event can be found in the *Pepperdine University Protection of Human Participants in*

Research: Policies and Procedures Manual at community.pepperdine.edu/irb.

Please refer to the protocol number denoted above in all communication or correspondence related to your application and this approval. Should you have additional questions or require clarification of the contents of this letter, please contact the IRB Office. On behalf of the IRB, I wish you success in this scholarly pursuit.

Sincerely,

Judy Ho, Ph.D., IRB Chair

cc: Mrs. Katy Carr, Assistant Provost for Research